Author: Ralston, Jeremy P

Title: An Ergonomic Assessment of the Assembly Line Unloading Workstation Located in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ

The accompanying research report is submitted to the University of Wisconsin-Stout, Graduate School in partial completion of the requirements for the

Graduate Degree/ Major: MS Risk Control

Research Adviser: Dr. Brian J. Finder

Submission Term/Year: Fall, 2012

Number of Pages: 87

Style Manual Used: American Psychological Association, 6th edition

 \boxtimes I understand that this research report must be officially approved by the Graduate School and that an electronic copy of the approved version will be made available through the University Library website

 \boxtimes I attest that the research report is my original work (that any copyrightable materials have been used with the permission of the original authors), and as such, it is automatically protected by the laws, rules, and regulations of the U.S. Copyright Office.

My research adviser has approved the content and quality of this paper.

STUDENT:					1 .94
	NAME:	Jeremy	Ralston	DATE:	12/13/12
ADVISER:	(Committee C	hair if MS	Plan A or EdS	Thesis or Fie	eld Project/Prot

blem):

DATE: /2 NAME:

This section for MS Plan A Thesis or EdS Thesis/Field Project papers only Committee members (other than your adviser who is listed in the section above)

1. CMTE MEMBER'S NAME:	DATE:
2. CMTE MEMBER'S NAME:	DATE:
3. CMTE MEMBER'S NAME:	DATE:

This section to be completed by the Graduate School This final research report has been approved by the Graduate School.

Director, Office of Graduate Studies:

DATE:

Ralston, Jeremy P. An Ergonomic Assessment of the Assembly Line Unloading Workstation Located in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ

Abstract

The presence of certain ergonomic stressors were placing Company XYZ's Finishing Division employees that engaged in manual material handling at the assembly line unloading workstation at risk of developing musculoskeletal disorders (MSD's). Additionally, those MDS's may lead to higher worker compensation insurance premium costs, increased employee illnesses and injuries, and an elevated personnel attrition rate. The purpose of this study was to determine if the presence of ergonomic stressors were placing the employees at an increased risk of developing MSD's as well as recommend various engineering and administrative controls which may potentially reduce or eliminate adverse conditions. As evidenced by the results from the Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet, the Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation, and the Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines, it appears that high forces, awkward postures, and repetitive movements were present at this workstation. The recommended solutions proposed by this paper included engineering and administrative controls. One of the engineering controls recommended included the redesign of the workstation so as to elevate the shipping pallet to reduce the amount of spinal flexion experienced by the workers. The principal administrative control recommended was the implementation of a comprehensive ergonomic policy which includes a worker training program and task analysis procedures.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to express my overwhelming gratitude to my wife, Melanie, my son, Jordan, and my daughter, Madelyn. Without your unwavering support and encouragement to me throughout the countless hours of studying, paper writing, and late-night classes I would not have been able to complete this major milestone in my professional and personal life. I am sincerely thankful for having such a wonderful family and I guarantee this will pay off for our future. I love you!

Second, I would like to extend my appreciation to the University of Wisconsin – Stout for preparing me to complete this project. The accommodating course schedules and quality instructors were instrumental in guiding me through my graduate studies.

Third, I would like to send a special thank you to Tim Wyer, the health and safety manager at the company where this research was conducted. Without your cooperation and assistance this study would not have been possible.

Last, but certainly not least, I would like to recognize the support and guidance of my research adviser, Dr. Brian Finder. Dr. Finder's vast knowledge and expertise of the field of ergonomics, as well as his words of wisdom and encouragement, were vital in motivating me throughout this process and continuing with my education.

	Page
Abstract	1
List of Tables	6
Chapter I: Introduction	7
Purpose of the Study	9
Goals of the Study	10
Assumptions of the Study	10
Background and Significance	10
Definition of Terms	11
Chapter II: Literature Review	12
Musculoskeletal Disorders	12
Risk Factors	14
Cost of MSD's	16
History of Modern Ergonomics	19
Ergonomic Program Objectives	20
Ergonomic Assessment Tools	23
Ergonomic Illness/Injury Prevention Approaches	28
Summary	32
Chapter III: Methodology	33
Subject Selection and Description	
Instrumentation	34
Ergonomic Assessment Tools	34

Table of Contents

Data Collection Procedures	
Video and photographic images collection procedures	
Workstation measurement procedures	
Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet procedures	
Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation procedures	37
Snook Tables procedures	37
Document review procedures	
Limitations	
Chapter IV: Results	40
General Workstation Description	40
Substation A Task Description	43
Substation B Task Description	44
Ergonomic Analysis of the Workstation	45
Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet results	45
Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation results	46
Snook Tables results	47
Document Review	47
Chapter V: Conclusions and Recommendations	50
Conclusions	50
Recommendations	53
Recommendations for Additional Research	56
References	57
Appendix A: Blank Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet	62

List of Tables

Table 1: Manufactured Metal Products Weights	42
Table 2: RWL and LI for Substation A and Substation B	46
Table 3: Percentages of the Human Population that Could Perform the Task Safely	47
Table 4: Comparison of the WC Premium Rates for the Average Wisconsin MGM Business a	nd
Company XYZ	48
Table 5: Worker Compensation Payouts for Years 2008 Through 2011	49
Table 6: Finishing Division Employee Attrition Rates	49

Chapter I: Introduction

Ergonomics is described by Dempsey, Wogalter, & Hancock (2002) as designing the interface of humans and machines to enhance performance. The principal objective of an ergonomic program within a business or industrial setting is to prevent workers from developing musculoskeletal disorders (MSD's). Organizations may limit its employees' risk of developing MSD's by reducing exposure to ergonomic stressors. The primary stressors, which may potentially lead to MSD's, include high forces, awkward postures, and repetitive movements (National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health [NIOSH], 1997). According to the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) (2011), MSD's accounted for at least 30% of all non-fatal injuries and illnesses in the United States in 2010. Additionally, in 2010, the occupation classification which includes freight, stock, and material movers incurred the highest rate of injuries and illnesses as well as the second highest number of MSD's in the United States. Based on the extent of human-based losses that may be a result from improper design of the workplace, it would appear MSD's are a serious concern for employers as it relates to designing tasks for its workers.

It is reasonable to conclude that a primary cause of MSD's is frequently traced back to manual material handling (MMH) and related tasks. By its very nature, MMH exposes the worker to several of the ergonomic stressors which lead to MSD's. MMH is simply moving objects without the aid of a power assisted device, including, but is not limited to pushing, pulling, grasping, holding, carrying, lifting and manipulating items in the course of a work-related task. An organization's ability to develop and implement an ergonomics program with the overall intent to limit employee exposures to MMH is an important objective to reduce work-place injuries and increase efficiency (NIOSH, 2007).

There appears to be conclusive evidence that organizations who fail to control workplace injuries should reasonably expect to experience an increase in loss-related expenses. One of the areas for an organization's bottom line to be negatively affected is in its worker compensation (WC) insurance premiums. According to the State of Wisconsin's Department of Workforce Development (WIDWD) (n.d.), the 2011 WC rate for metal goods manufacturing was \$8.05 per \$100 of payroll. This means for every \$100 the company pays to its employees for wage and benefit-related expenditures, an additional \$8.05 is paid to the applicable insurance company in WC premium. This metal goods-based WC rate is significantly above the \$5.41 average rate for all of Wisconsin's manufacturing industries. In 2001, the WC rate for metal goods manufacturing was \$5.12 per \$100 of payroll, while the average general manufacturing rate was \$4.35. When comparing the 2001 and the 2011 WC rates for metal goods manufacturing, it appears that this business sector's WC rates are increasing in a manner which is outpacing general manufacturing. Because the overall WC premiums are adjusted by applying a modifier which is based on that specific organization's reported injuries, it is important for companies to be in constant control of its human-related losses.

Company XYZ is a producer and retailer of manufactured metal goods and related accessories. This company's 300,000+ square foot manufacturing and distribution facility is located in the upper Midwest region of the United States and employs approximately 340 full-time and part-time workers. Employees within this facility are directly involved in every step of the manufacturing process. These duties include unloading raw material from the delivery truck, cutting and bending steel tubing and plates, welding, placement of decals and stickers, packaging, and loading the products for delivery. A significant amount of the material handling is performed without the aid of equipment and thus must be completed manually.

At the final stage of the manufacturing process, the finished product must be removed from an overhead assembly line and packaged for shipping. After emerging from the powder coating process, the product is manually removed from the assembly line by a single worker, carried to a pallet, and then stacked to prepare such for shipping. The weight of each product ranges from 20 to 80 pounds, depending on the design specifications of the product being manufactured. Workers at the assembly line unloading workstation are typically engaged in this task for an eight hour period, do not perform alternate activities during the shift, and work at a rate of approximately six to seven pieces per minute. The substantial weight of the product, combined with exposure to repetitive motions and awkward postures are identified as the ergonomic stressors which are present at this workstation. While there are limited reports of injuries or MSD's from employees at the assembly line unloading workstation, a high turnover in staffing strongly suggests the presence of ergonomic stressors. Additionally, the rate of which the pieces are returned to the powder coating process due to chipped or scratched paint suggests a deficiency in the manual handling procedure of those products. Therefore, the current assembly line unloading workstation design in Company XYZ's Finishing Division is likely to be placing employees who perform manual material handling at risk of developing musculoskeletal disorders as well as exposing the company to higher worker compensation costs.

Purpose of the Study

The purpose of this study was to analyze the current design of the assembly line unloading workstation to determine the extent of ergonomic deficiencies and related effects in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ.

Goals of the Study

The goal of this study was to determine if conditions at the assembly line unloading workstation may lead to musculoskeletal disorders in Company XYZ's employees. This was accomplished by:

- Analyzing the assembly line unloading workstation by utilizing various ergonomic assessment tools.
- Reviewing the company's illness and injury records to determine the extent of reported musculoskeletal disorders.
- Reviewing the company's worker compensation and personnel records to determine insurance premium rates, medical payments, and employee turnover.

Assumptions of the Study

For the purposes of this study it was assumed that:

- Company XYZ collected and maintained accurate data regarding incidences of workplace illnesses and injuries, worker compensation records, and personnel attrition rates.
- Employees performed work-related tasks in a similar manner as when not being observed.

Background and Significance

An ergonomic analysis of the assembly line unloading workstation in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ was conducted as part of the company's new focus on reducing costs associated with work-related injuries and illnesses. This study possesses the potential to identify certain hazardous conditions which may contribute to workers developing MSD's. The presence of MSD's in workers could lead to reduced revenue for the company due to increased worker compensation claims, higher insurance premiums, reduced product quality, and increased rework. Additionally, an ergonomically-correct workstation may possess significant potential to increase worker efficiency and job satisfaction, which could reduce employee turnover due to the stressors which are likely to be occurring with the current task design.

Definition of Terms

Abduction. A movement of an extremity away from the body. (*Mosby's Dictionary of Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2005).

Adduction. A movement of an extremity toward the body. (*Mosby's Dictionary of Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2005).

Extension. A movement of a body part which increases the angle of a joint. (*Mosby's Dictionary of Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2005).

Flexion. A movement of a body part which decreases the angle of a joint. (*Mosby's Dictionary of Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2005).

Incident rate. A rate calculated using a formula to track the occurrence of illnesses and injuries. The formula is expressed as: total number of injuries and illnesses in one year, multiplied by 200,000, then divided by total number of hours worked by all employees in one year (OSHA, 2004a).

Musculoskeletal Disorders (MSD's). "Disease or syndrome attributed to abnormal formation of bones, muscles, ligaments, tendons, and/or other connective tissue" (*Cambridge Dictionary of Human Biology and Evolution*, 2005, para. 1).

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) recordable. A workplace illness or injury that causes a worker's death, a loss of consciousness, time away from work, restricted/light duty, job transfer, and/or medical treatment beyond first aid (OSHA, 2004a).

Chapter II: Literature Review

The purpose of this study was to analyze conditions at the assembly line unloading workstation in Company XYZ's Finishing Division to determine if such posed an ergonomic risk to associated employees. The presence of manual material handling tasks, as well as other ergonomic stressors, is likely placing those employees at risk of developing MSD's. This chapter will review several major categories of MSD's, including the corresponding risk factors, as well as the direct and indirect impacts that such ailments may inflict on employees and organizations. Additionally, this chapter will discuss the definition, history, and objectives of modern-day ergonomic programs as well as highlight several effective systems currently in place at leading organizations. Finally, this chapter will review several ergonomic assessment tools and instrumentation devices which are available to analyze various tasks and thus determine the presence of certain conditions which may lead to MSD's, as well as discuss several specific methods organizations may employ to assist in limiting its employee's exposure to identified hazards.

Musculoskeletal Disorders

There appears to be sufficient evidence to conclude that the prevalence of work-related MSD's constitutes a significant percentage of all employee illnesses and injuries. As concluded by multiple studies, work-related MSD's are a common occurrence among employees in industrialized countries (Deeney& O'Sullivan, 2009; Nordander et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2009). Nordander et al. (2009) identified and described the symptoms of multiple MSD's, which are the most commonly reported injuries and illnesses among workers who are engaged in repetitive or constrained activities within industrialized nations. The symptoms experienced by workers who suffer from MSD's may vary greatly in severity, frequency, and location, however, there are

several common characteristics which employers and employees should be aware. Workers suffering from MSD's may experience symptoms which include localized pain, stiffness and/or inflammation of the tissue surrounding a joint, and tenderness of the tendon at the point where it attaches to the skeleton. Several common forms of MSD's and associated symptoms, as identified by Nordander et al. (2009), include the following:

- Tension neck syndrome discomfort, stiffness, and/or fatigue in the cervical region of the spine, including pain radiating to the rear of the skull.
- Cervical syndrome pain radiating from the cervical area of the spine to the upper extremities which may be aggravated by movement; diminished feeling in the fingers and hands; reduced muscle strength throughout the upper extremities.
- Thoracic outlet syndrome radiating pain or paresthesia (numbness, tingling, and/or prickling sensation) in the upper extremities throughout the ulnar nerve; extreme tenderness in the brachial plexus nerve bundle.
- Frozen shoulder shoulder pain with increasing stiffness in the joint during a three to four month time span; reduced ability for shoulder abduction.
- Acromioclavicular syndrome palpable tenderness of the tissue surrounding the shoulder joint; pain aggravated by shoulder adduction and outward rotation (with 90 degree abduction and flexed elbow).
- Carpal tunnel syndrome numbness of the hand; paresthesia throughout the median nerve; decreased in hand grip strength.
- Ulnar nerve entrapment at the elbow and/or wrist pain and paresthesia throughout the ulnar nerve over the cubital tunnel (elbow) and/or Guyon's tunnel (wrist); reduced ability to spread the fingers.

The term MSD's may be a generic phrase used in lieu of officially accepted medical conditions, however, it should be recognized as a serious and potentially costly problem confronting employers and employees.

Risk factors. The research indicates a majority of MSD's are attributed to three distinct risk factors, or ergonomic stressors. While each risk factor may be independently a source for developing a MSD's, the presence of multiple stressors potentially will enhance the likelihood of workers who experience ergonomic-related illnesses or injuries even further. NIOSH (1997), through the comprehensive review of several hundred scientific studies, recognized high forces, awkward postures, and repetitive movements as the primary hazardous conditions which may lead to workers developing MSD's. This study became the foundation for many ergonomic-related recommendations and is a source utilized by researchers to define the risks associated with adverse working conditions which potentially cause workers to develop MSD's.

Each of the major risk factors, for which the evidence identifies as presenting a high correlation of workers who engage in these activities to develop MSD's, are defined by the NIOSH (1997) study. High forces, while difficult to quantify due to the varying capabilities of each worker and the specific portion of the body utilized to complete the required work-related task, may be described as forceful or strenuous exertion. An awkward posture also depends on the particular body part engaged in the task. However, any activity that places the body in such a manner which is a moderate or extreme deviation from its neutral position is considered to be an awkward posture. Repetitive motions engage a part of the body in a frequent or cyclical motion, typically with a brief amount of time between cycles. The three previously discussed ergonomic risk factors are not an exhaustive list and there are other additional conditions, such as vibration exposure, extreme temperatures, as well as the worker's personal physical abilities, which could contribute to the prevalence of MSD's (NIOSH, 1997).

Even with the apparent ambiguity of medical testing and worker self-descriptions of physical symptoms, such methods continue to be the most reliable manner of describing the risks linked to developing MSD's. However, there are other less tangible manifestations of MSDrelated symptoms which are reported by employees. According to Deeney & O'Sullivan (2009) and NIOSH (1997) psychosocial risk factors could manifest as physical symptoms of MSD's. The studies suggest that the perceived stress an employee experiences due to an imbalance between his or her personal abilities and the task requirements, the lack of job satisfaction, and the individual worker's personality characteristics may exacerbate MSD-related symptoms that are already present. Additionally, these psychosocial risk factors may be manifested as symptoms of MSD's, even when no ergonomic stressors were apparent. NIOSH (1997) identifies four plausible explanations for psychosocial factors which cause workers to experience MSD-related symptoms. First, and possibly the most reasonable, workers who are under a great deal of stress may experience an increased amount of tension which could potentially translate into muscle fatigue and therefore be expressed as a MSD symptom. Second, workers who previously acquired skills or knowledge, through ergonomic-based training or education, would be cognizant of MSD-related symptoms and therefore possess an increased likelihood to report a problem. Third, an initial physical injury with genuine pain may elicit a dysfunctional psychological response which causes the worker to continually experience chronic discomfort, even though the injury physically healed. Finally, changes in the actual work environment may cause simultaneous MSD-related symptoms and psychosocial stress due to physical and psychological demands of the new task. Psychosocial risk factors add another layer of

complexity for employers to be aware of when attempting to design an ergonomic-based program that limits employee's exposure to conditions which are most likely to cause MSD's.

Costs of MSD's. An examination of the related literature reveals that the cost of MSDrelated illnesses and injuries to business and industry is staggering. In the United States, from 2004 through 2010, MSD's accounted for approximately 30 percent of all reported, non-fatal injuries annually (BLS, 2011). The expense of MSD-related illnesses and injuries add up to a significant amount of money in direct medical costs and higher worker compensation (WC) premiums, as well as potentially leading to indirect losses such as employee absenteeism, worker turnover, and reduced productivity. The United States Bone and Joint Initiative (USBJI) (2011) estimated that in 2006, the costs to business and industry for direct MSD-related expenses such as medical care and WC payments were approximately \$576 billion and the indirect costs associated with employee absenteeism, worker turnover, and reduced productivity were nearly \$373 billion. This equates to over \$949 billion dollars spent annually in the United States due to MSD-related illness and injuries.

A closer review of the data provided by the BLS (2011) of all non-fatal incidents finds the job classification, which includes material movers, experienced a consistently higher number of injuries and illnesses. The overall number of non-fatal injuries and illnesses in 2007 reached a staggering 80,000 individual cases in private industry. By 2010, the number of illnesses and injuries for the identical job classification dropped to slightly over 65,000 individual cases in private industry. While this indicates an overall reduction of work-related illness and injuries within the United States, it is still significantly higher than the next job classification, which includes nursing aides and orderlies, at slightly above 53,000 individual cases (BLS, 2011). Further analysis of the 2010 numbers reveals that the job classification which includes material movers is identified as experiencing the second highest number of reported MSD-related illnesses and injuries at approximately 23,400 cases. This is second only to nursing aids, orderlies and attendants which experienced approximately 27,000 reported MSD-related illness and injury cases during the same period. Within all job classifications, whether such were located in government and/or private industry, repetitive motion illnesses and injuries are reported as incurring the highest number of days away from work, at 24 days per incident (BLS, 2011). While the figures suggest that repetitive motion and MSD-related illnesses and injuries present a significant concern for all workers, regardless of job classification and occupational sector, this information is based solely on the data collected and does not include the number of unreported cases of human-based losses.

In addition to direct medical costs and the human-based losses related to MSD's, WC insurance is another expense incurred by organizations. WC insurance is mandated by state and federal statutes for all private business as well as local, state and federal governmental agencies. The State of Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance (WIOCI) is the governmental agency charged with the oversight of the WC insurance program. According to the WIOCI (2012), WC insurance is the responsibility of employers and it is intended to provide financial assistance and medical services to employees who are injured while performing work-related duties. WC, in place since 1911, is meant to serve as the sole remedy for workers against the employer for injuries sustained while on the job. With few exceptions all organizations, private and public, are required to purchase WC insurance or self-insure to satisfy the legal requirements established by the state and federal laws (WIOCI, 2012). If an organization fails to obtain WC insurance, and are statutorily required to carry the coverage, it may be fined at least the cost of the premiums owed during the uninsured period. In addition to the fines levied, a company may

be required to reimburse the WC program for all benefits paid out in the course of covering an injured employee (WIOCI, 2012). Therefore, regardless of the organization's philosophy towards establishing and maintaining a health and safety program, there is a minimum amount of coverage that is mandatory for employers to ensure the welfare of its workers.

WC insurance is structured in such a manner which may be a motivator for employers to be cognizant of and be proficient with controlling its work-related illnesses and injuries. The WC insurance premium rate for an organization is partially based on its industry classification, which is ultimately determined by the perceived risk associated with that type of business. Additionally, the State of Wisconsin's WC insurance program allows for organizations who maintain a lower-than-industry average of work-related illnesses and injuries an opportunity to experience a discount on its premiums through the experience rating plan (ERP) (WIOCI, 2012). An ERP uses the actual loss-based information from that specific organization to be applied to the WC rate as a modifier with the potential to decrease the company's insurance premium. Conversely, if the organization reports a higher-than-industry average of work-related illnesses and injuries, it potentially will be required to pay a significantly increased amount in WC insurance premiums (WIOCI, 2012). It would appear that an organization possesses the ability to decrease the financial burden of WC insurance premiums by recognizing and controlling work-related illnesses and injuries.

Direct financial costs in the form of medical payments and higher WC insurance premiums are not the only expenses related to work-related MSD's. High employee turnover is a realistic expectation for organizations whose employees experience any of the ergonomic stressors previously mentioned. Regardless if personnel leave the workforce due directly to an injury or illness or if an employee resigns due to adverse working conditions, the expense associated with replacing that worker is comparable. According to the study conducted by O'Connell and Mei-Chuan (2007), in which the BLS was cited, the average direct cost to replace a manufacturing employee is slightly under \$14,000. This figure does not account for the indirect costs associated with losing a worker due to lower morale, which may result in an increased burden on existing employees and the lost experience could potentially cause process inefficiency. The frequency of employee turnover is potentially an indicator for organization to be conscious of when tasks are analyzed to determine if workers are exposed to various ergonomic stressors.

History of Modern Ergonomics

Ergonomics is a term that may be defined differently by the general public as well as professionals within the health and safety field. The word "ergonomics" is a combination of the ancient Greek words *ergos* (meaning work) and *nomos* (meaning natural law) and based on one straightforward definition that is recognized for the purposes of this paper, it may be described simply as designing the interface of humans and machines to enhance performance (Dempsey, Wogalter, & Hancock, 2002). Christensen (1976) asserts there appears to be archeological evidence that pre-historic humans fashioned and used tools, such as stone blades and deer antlers, which were modified specifically so as to be easily wielded by hand or would enable the worker to efficiently complete a task. While ergonomics was present throughout human history, modern ergonomics did not emerge until the early and mid-twentieth century with the establishment of several professional ergonomic organizations and societies (Christensen, 1976; Galley, n.d.; Stanton & Stammers, 2008).

Throughout human history, the field of ergonomics evolved and was applied to workplace conditions utilizing methods which were dependent on the technological proficiency and needs of the organization. Christensen (1976) indicates that prior to the 1930's, the general focus of employers was on selecting employees to fit the task, however by the end of World War II, the United States government officially recognized the value in designing the task to accommodate the worker. In the 1940's and 1950's, the world witnessed a significant focus on ergonomics from both government and private industry. The United States Department of Defense established research facilities across many of its branches which were specializing in the development of ergonomic-based solutions. The International Ergonomics Association, a professional organization comprised of many individual federated and associated societies, was established in 1958 and focused on the physical welfare, productivity, and the psychological demands on workers (Galley, n.d.). As technology advances and with it the understanding of certain capabilities and limitations of the human body, the utilization of ergonomic solutions may play a vital role in an organization's ability to solve the problem of human-based losses.

Ergonomic Program Objectives

It would appear reasonable to assert that each business must realize its own specific objectives and reasons to establish and maintain an effective ergonomics program. However, regardless of specific goals and objectives, the main focus will predominantly be to reduce human-based losses and associated costs to the organization. The reduction of human-based losses may be accomplished by two approaches. First, by reducing direct and indirect costs associated with MSD's, such as medical payments and reduced production respectively. The second approach is to increase process efficiency by improving the interface between the worker and the task environment. A successful ergonomic program is one that is able to accomplish MSD-related illness and injury reduction while increasing worker efficiency.

An apparent leader in the employee health and safety field is 3M, which established an ergonomics program over 30 years ago and quickly recognized the benefits (3M, n.d.; Larson & Wick, 2012). 3M is a global technology-based company with at least 84,000 employees and over \$30 billion in annual sales (3M, 2011). The 3M ergonomic program objectives are to improve the process efficiency, performance, health, and job satisfactions of employees while limiting the company's exposure to increased costs of work-related illnesses and injuries (3M, n.d.). In 1990, 3M compiled all relevant loss data and discovered that MSD's accounted for 39 percent of OSHA recordables, and 63 percent of all instances when workers were unable to immediately return to their duties after an injury or illness. After establishing and maintaining a quality ergonomics program, 3M noticed a steady decrease in the frequency and severity of reported MSD-related illnesses and injuries in 120 worksites across the world. Within a five year span from 2003 through 2008, 3M's domestically-based facilities experienced a reduction in the occurrence of ergonomic-related injuries and illnesses after implementation of this program. The study found the incident rate (frequency) decreased from approximately 1.8 to 1.2 and the days away (severity) decreased significantly from over 80 to slightly above 20 days away per injury or illness event (3M, n.d.). 3M anticipates consistent results in the reducing MSD-related injuries and illnesses as evidenced by its philosophy of continuous improvement. Based on the continuance of such a program, it is reasonable to assume that 3M values its ergonomic-based approach to decrease occurrences of MSD's within its organization.

Another leader in the employee health and safety field is Dow Chemical. According to its website, Dow (2011) is a worldwide organization with over 52,000 employees in 36 countries, and annual sales revenue exceeding \$60 billion from its 5,000 products in the fields of agriculture, plastics, chemical, electronics, and advanced materials. In 1994, Dow embarked on

a 10-year mission to reduce its reportable illness and injury rates by 90 percent. In order to assess the performance of this approach, OSHA commissioned a study of Dow's Six Sigma-based ergonomic program (OSHA, 2004b). Dow applied this system to its Dow Design and Construction (DDC) business unit in 2000. By using the Six Sigma-based approach to ergonomic risk reduction, results were immediately realized and the overall hazards were reduced by 63 percent within DDC. During the final two years of the 10-year mission, the number of ergonomic-based injuries, which required lost time or days away from work, dropped from 53 percent in 2001 to 30 percent in 2003. Dow invested significantly in the Six Sigma-based employee health and safety program for the DDC and by all indications, will continue to utilize this proven approach and expand such throughout the entire company.

Each organization will use a different human-based loss reduction approach depending on its specific set of circumstances. For example, an ergonomics program will differ greatly between an office setting with numerous computer workstations and a manufacturing facility which is engaged in manual material handling. The office ergonomic program may be simply limited to a workstation design system or basic ergonomic training for personnel which will promote efficient interface between the employee and the computer (Mahmud, Kenny, Zein, & Hassan, 2011). However, it would be reasonable for a manufacturing facility to establish a comprehensive ergonomics program which may include approaches to process redesign, utilizing power-assisted lifting devices, and/or instituting a physical training routine in an effort to reduce work-related MSD's (Hess & Hecker, 2003; Mallon, 2012; Nussbaum & Chaffin, 1999). Regardless of the specific ergonomic risk factors which are present within an organization, implementing and maintaining a quality system may reduce the employee's likelihood of developing MSD's.

In order for a company to initiate and continue an effective and ultimately advanced ergonomic program, several necessary traits must be present within the organization. The successes experienced by 3M may be attributed to the evolution of a microergonomic system, which focuses on solving individual problems, to a macroergonomics program that involves a strategic integration of ergonomics into other business objectives (Larson & Wick, 2012). Mallon (2012) proposes an organization in the early stages of developing an ergonomic program, described as the reactive phase, will be primarily concerned with ending the condition that caused the illness or injury and treating the worker's medical needs. The next evolution of the ergonomic program is the preventative phase, identified as the organization's attempt to fit the worker with the job or alter the employee's behavior in order to minimize MSD's. The proactive phase is one that organizations are involved in studying the risks of a task and attempt to modify the conditions in order to reduce the ergonomic stressors. Finally, Mallon (2012) recognizes several minimum requirements of an advanced ergonomic program which includes maintaining accurate records, utilizing a task assessment tool, implementing engineering controls based on workers' capabilities, establishing administrative rules to direct employee behavior, and, eventually as an ultimate goal, utilizing ergonomics-based information when designing the individual equipment, entire processes, or even in the planning a facility's layout. While it may not be practical for all organizations to immediately establish an ergonomics program at an advanced level, it is certainly feasible to initiate a system and strive to continually improve on the process.

Ergonomic Assessment Tools

There are a wide variety of qualitative, quantitative, and hybrid assessment tools available to assess an organization's ergonomic needs. Qualitative tools such as screening checklists and employee surveys are a subjective method of compiling preliminary information on potential ergonomic risks. Quantitative tools, similar to the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation, utilize actual measurements to determine ergonomic risks and are reasonably objective in data analysis (NIOSH, 1994). Hybrid (qualitative and quantitative) assessment tools, equivalent to The Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines and the Ergonomics Task Analysis Worksheet, use a combination of objective and subjective data gathering techniques to determine ergonomic risks. According to Village, Backman, & Lacaille, (2008) an organization should evaluate several criteria when determining which ergonomic assessment tool fits its needs, including the nature of the task being analyzed, proficiency of the evaluator, and capabilities of its workers.

The NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation is a formula which is based on a meta-analysis completed to further refine the current guidelines (NIOSH, 1994). This assessment method is designed to be applied to tasks with the intent on determining the maximum recommended weight an employee should be required to lift during the completion of a particular activity. The quantity is expressed as the recommended weight limit (RWL) which is factored by the equation RWL = LC x HM x VM x DM x AM x FM x CM. Additionally, the assessment tool will assist in determining the amount of stress the worker experiences while performing the task. This stress is expressed as the lifting index (LI) and it represents the ratio of the actual weight lifted (L) during the task and the RWL which is factored by completing the following equation LI = L / RWL. Research performed by Waters, Lu, Piacitelli, Werren, and Deddens (2011) indicated lifting-related tasks with a LI above 1.0 places workers engaged in such activities at an increased risk of developing a MSD-related illness or injury.

NIOSH (1994) established certain procedures for completing the lifting equation and that the data collection phase of the assessment must be conducted in a manner to ensure accurate measurements. Initially, the evaluator will establish if the activity is a single or multi-task lift. The multi-task version of the equation is utilized when a portion of the lifting activity varies significantly from other steps in the process. For the purposes of this study, only the single-task version of the equation will be reviewed for analyzing lifting-related activities. A review of the procedures for the single-task assessment version of the equation clarifies that a lifting activity is separated into two stages. Each phase is analyzed individually, obtaining two RWL and LI values for the single activity. The first phase of the analysis is conducted when the object is initially lifted and the equation is again applied to the second stage of the task when the item is placed upon the destination surface.

Initially, NIOSH (1994) instructs that the individual components of the equation must be defined. As previously stated, L represents the weight of the actual object lifted during the task. The load constant (LC) remains unchanged regardless of the task and is always expressed as a value of 51. H denotes the horizontal distance measurement of the hands in relation to the center point between the worker's ankles at the initial phase of the lift as well as at the end phase of the activity. The horizontal multiplier (HM) value is calculated by the following equation HM = 10 / H. V represents the vertical measurement of the hands in relation to the surface from which the object is lifted at the initial phase of the lift. The vertical multiplier (VM) is the product of the equation VM = 1 - (.0075 |V - 30|). D represents a measurement value of vertical distance traveled by the object during the lift. The distance multiplier (DM) is calculated by the formula DM = .82 + (1.8 / D). A represents the asymmetric angle measurement of spinal twisting the worker's body experiences during the lifting activity. The asymmetric multiplier (AM) is

calculated by the formula AM = 1 - (.0032A). F represents the frequency of lifts per minute involved in the task. The frequency multiplier (FM) is a product of the frequency of the lifts, duration of the activity, and the V value which is determined by applying such to the NIOSHsupplied table. The coupling modifier (CM) is calculated by evaluating the hands' grip to the lifted object which is expressed as good, fair, or poor (definitions provided by NIOSH) and applying the results to the V value through a NIOSH-provided chart. Once all values of the components are ascertained, the equation is calculated by multiplying the numbers with each other in order to define the RWL. The RWL will then be applied to the formula to obtain the LI. Finally, the results will be interpreted and applied to the NIOSH-recommended standards to determine the level of risk an employee is exposed to while engaged in the lifting task.

In order to be as accurate as possible, the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation assumes several optimal working conditions. The assumptions include lifting with two hands, task performance for eight hours or less, no seated or kneeling activities, not working in a restricted space, the lifted object is stable, there is no pushing, pulling or carrying involved in the task, no high speed (faster than 30 inches per second) lifting, and the work environment is between 66 and 79 degrees Fahrenheit (NIOSH, 1994). The NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation is a relatively complex tool and requires an experienced employee to ensure accurate results. Even with its limitations, the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation may be a beneficial tool to an organization with regard to establishing certain guidelines for lifting-related tasks.

Another tool useful in analyzing tasks for adverse conditions which may lead to MSD's is The Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines. This tool was developed by the Liberty Mutual Research Institute for Safety (LMRIS), which is commonly referred to as the Snook Tables after co-developer Stover Snook, to provide a guideline when determining the employee's ability to push, pull, lift, lower, and carry objects (LMRIS, 2004). The tables, which are separated by gender, help determine what percent of the population will likely be able to perform the activity being analyzed with the objective to assist in designing a task to accommodate the widest range of employees possible. According to the research Snook conducted and cited for development of these guidelines, up to two-thirds of low back injuries may be prevented by designing a workstation in order to provide that at least 75 percent of the female population completing the task falls within these recommendations (LMRIS, 2004). The Snook Tables are relatively simple to use, but a small amount of ergonomic training or experience is beneficial to effectively utilize this assessment tool.

There are a myriad of quick-analysis worksheets available for analyzing a task for ergonomic stressors, however several are more thorough and therefore provide a greater amount of assessment-orientated information. The Ergonomics Task Analysis Worksheet (ETAW) (see Appendix A) was developed by the Great American Insurance Company (GAIC) to assist organizations to identify and evaluate tasks for conditions which cause MSD's. The worksheet provides several sections, which correspond with the NIOSH-recognized risk factors that lead to MSD's and categorizes the conditions as ideal, warning level, and take action. The evaluator conducting the analysis is instructed to observe the task being performed (obtaining a video record for later playback and reference is recommended) and compare the conditions present to the provided descriptions. Once the task is analyzed, an action plan is recommended to be established for all conditions falling into the take action category. Additionally, the ETAW provides a section to record the type of control implemented and the cost associated with those solutions. The ETAW's comprehensive sections that identifies many of the ergonomic stressors which may lead workers to develop MSD-related illness and injuries, coupled with the simplicity of its operation, provides for a versatile and effective ergonomic assessment tool.

Utilizing various ergonomic assessment tools is only a partial step in analyzing a task for ergonomic stressors. Charlton & O'Brien (2002) recommend that in order to collect quantifiable information, employing certain instrumentation such as thermometers to measure temperature, goniometers to determine the angle of joints, and a tape measure to obtain linear dimensions is necessary. The goniometer is an effective device utilized to measure joint angles which are created during various motions of the human body (Kolber & Hanney, 2012). Additionally, Kociolek and Keir (2010) concluded that utilizing a digital video recording device to create still and motion pictures for review and playback during the task assessment phase is an efficient method to analyze conditions for ergonomic stressors. It is reasonable to conclude that when coupled with assessment tools, certain instrumentation is a valuable addition to the ergonomic task analysis process.

Ergonomic Illness/Injury Prevention Approaches

As previously stated, there appears to be sufficient evidence which proposes that an organization's ability to implement and manage an effective ergonomics program may reduce the prevalence of MSD's in the workplace and consequently, limit its exposure to increased expenses related to such. While there are numerous potential exposure hazards, types of MSD's, and assessment methods, many different approaches and methods are available to control the risks and reduce the potential for MSD-related illnesses and injuries. Engineering controls are such that alter the environment in a manner to reduce the worker's exposure to hazards, while administrative-based solutions attempt to alter employees' behavior to comply with established standards. Each organization may determine a course of action and develop a program specific

to the needs and requirements based on its individual characteristics (Kennedy et al., 2010; Mallon, 2012). Discussed below are several ergonomic programs and approaches which, as the evidence indicates, are effective in reducing the hazards associated with MSD development.

With an overwhelming number of ergonomic programs and approaches which are available today, it is understandable that an organization may be unsure which ergonomic control methods are effective. A comprehensive study conducted by Kennedy et al. (2010) systematically reviewed over 15,000 articles and academic papers based on ergonomic prevention programs. During the course of the review, Kennedy et al. (2010) excluded all but 36 studies due to relevance and quality of the methodology used during the research. The remaining articles were analyzed for evidence where MSD prevention approaches were the most effective. The conclusions reached in this study indicated that workstation design (engineering controls) coupled with ergonomic training for workers (administrative solutions) were the most effective in producing a positive change in symptoms of MSD's (Kennedy et al., 2010). This study proposes that an ergonomically correct workstation, combined with providing the knowledge of safe and efficient work habits to employees, will provide the greatest results to reduce MSDrelated symptoms.

There are a multitude of approaches utilized to control ergonomic stressors which may be present at a workstation. However, there are several methods commonly used when the presence of MMH handling is potentially exposing an organization's workers to MSD's. A particular engineering control, which may limit employees' exposure to MMH tasks, is the implementation of mechanical devices designed to assist the worker in lifting-related activities. However, evidence suggests that these devices possess unique characteristics which could potentially expose the employee to additional ergonomic stressors. The utilization of a power-assisted device to reduce the weight stress which is placed upon the worker may negatively impact the productivity of the workstation due to the extra time required to manipulate the controls. To negate the potential for reduced productivity, an automated system may be implemented to control the pacing of the task. The conditions present in an automated pacing system coupled with a power-assisted device, according to Nussbaum & Chaffin (1999), may expose the worker to ergonomic stressors associated with MSD's. The study conducted by Nussbaum & Chaffin (1999) concluded that an automated pacing system where workers utilize a material handling manipulator may pose similar adverse conditions as when no mechanical device is present. While the level of weight stress is reduced on the individual worker, the effect of an automated process places an increased amount of forces on the hands used to manipulate the device, as well as lateral and sheer forces on the spine in order for the employee to maintain the predetermined production pace. When the automated pacing system is replaced with a self-paced process, the evidence indicates a reduction in the MSD-related stressors (Nussbaum & Chaffin, 1999). If an organization's ergonomic program includes implementing power-assisted devices in its manual material handling tasks, it must resist the temptation to increase efficiency by establishing a pacing standard which may expose the worker to additional hazardous conditions.

A significant administrative solution which is associated with a successful ergonomics program is the inclusion of employees. Larsson & Nordholm (2008) assert employees view themselves as the primary individual responsible for MSD's and generally do not hold employers accountable. This attitude should be capitalized on by employers to foster engagement of the employee to participate in an ergonomic program. The evidence displays an organization that includes employees in the development and continued operation of an ergonomic program will improve the communication between management and staff, as well as provide for an effective approach to minimize the prevalence of MSD's (Boynton & Darragh, 2008; Laing et al., 2007; Wells, 2009). Employees could be considered one of the most valuable resources a company possesses to produce its products and services and such workers should be called upon to assist the organization in establishing programs with the intent of preventing MSD-related illness and injuries due to adverse working conditions.

By combining employee involvement and ergonomic training with the goal to reduce the prevalence and severity of MSD in the workplace, establishing a pre-shift stretching routine for personnel engaged in MMH is a reasonable administrative solution. The research conducted by Hess and Hecker (2003) asserts that a pre-shift stretching routine, consisting of specific criteria, may reduce the MSD-related symptoms experienced by employees. The research suggests that employing a stretching program which targets the specific area of the body exposed to ergonomic stressors as part of the work-related task is the most effective. Additionally, a preliminary warm-up routine consisting of aerobic activity, such as walking in place, prior to the stretching routine may be beneficial (Hess & Hecker, 2003). Not all types of stretching are recommended and only certain methods are suggested. For example, the ballistic technique, where the muscle is bounced while stretched, is not recommended and may cause injury. The preferred technique is the static stretching method and is safe and effective as well as simple to learn and perform. The pre-shift stretching routine is optimized when performed at least two or three days per week and coordinated by trained professionals. Each stretch, that targets the muscle group which is at the greatest risk of injury, should be held for 15 to 30 seconds and repeated three to four times (Hess & Hecker, 2003). A pre-shift stretching routine, which requires an up-front investment in time and resources, may benefit the organization in reduced occurrence and severity of work-related MSD's for employees who engage in MMH tasks.

Summary

There is sufficient evidence to indicate that quality ergonomic programs are an important part of an organization's attempt to limit its exposure to human-based losses due to the presence of MSD's within its workforce. With the increasing costs of healthcare and the pressure for an organization to continuously streamline its operating expenses, an effective ergonomics program may potentially be a vital method of reducing costs and increasing worker efficiency. Even the humanitarian point of view deserves consideration in developing an ergonomics program. In the increasingly competitive business world, the approach in which an organization sets itself apart from others by recognizing the importance of employee's health may lead to the attraction of higher quality personnel.

Hazardous conditions such as high forces, awkward postures, lengthy exposure time, and repetitive movements may lead to workers to develop MSD's. While there are a multitude of ergonomic assessment tools available, this paper highlighted the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation, Snook Tables, and the ETAW as the methods that are effective and relatively easy to use. If these assessment tools are properly utilized in conjunction with accurate instrumentation and the high risk tasks identified, the controls implemented may reduce the occurrence of MSD's as well as potentially increase the efficiency of the workstation. When MSD's are reduced and the workstation efficiency is increased, it is reasonable to conclude the organization's loss-based expenses will decrease and its worker's efficiency will be enhanced.

Chapter III: Methodology

The purpose of this study was to analyze conditions at the assembly line unloading workstation in Company XYZ's Finishing Division to determine if such posed an ergonomic risk to associated employees. In order to collect a reasonably sufficient quantity of information, with the goal of determining the level of risk in relation to ergonomic stressors present at this workstation, several data collection methods and assessment tools were employed. This chapter will review the subject selection process, the instrumentation utilized for data collection, which assessment tools were employed, as well as outline the methods developed for administration of this analysis. Additionally, this chapter will discuss the limitations of this study.

Subject Selection and Description

The sample population of this study is limited to individuals tasked with removing a manufactured metal product from an overhead conveyor line and stacking such on a shipping pallet. The assembly line unloading workstation is divided into two substations which are staffed by one employee each and are supplied finished product from a single overhead conveyor line. For the purposes of this study, Substation A was designated as the first location to receive manufactured metal products from the overhead conveyor. Substation B was the second location to receive manufactured metal products from the overhead conveyor. The employees in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ alternate among several locations, including the assembly line unloading workstation. Workstation designations are typically assigned at the beginning of each shift based on the seniority of the workers. Due to the limited production capacity of this facility, only two workers were engaged in this activity during the data collection phase of this analysis. The worker located at Substation A was a 33 year-old male, approximately 160 pounds

and five feet, ten inches tall. Substation B's worker was a 36 year-old male, approximately 210 pounds and five feet, 11 inches tall.

Instrumentation

In the initial stages of the ergonomic analysis of the assembly line unloading workstation, digital video, still photographic images, temperature readings, object mass, as well as linear and angular measurements were obtained by utilizing the following instrumentation:

- Digital camera and video recorder devices used to capture still and moving images.
- Tape measure a tool which measures linear distances.
- Infrared thermometer a device which measures the level of thermal radiation produced by an object.
- Manual goniometer a protractor-type tool which is used to determine the angle of the body's joints.
- Single axial force gauge a device which measures the amount of force required to move or lift an object.

Ergonomic Assessment Tools

The second phase of data collection for this study involved the utilization of three ergonomic assessment tools to ascertain if the workstation contained adverse conditions which may potentially cause workers to develop MSD's. The ergonomic assessment tools utilized for this study were the Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet, the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation, and the Snook Tables. The ETAW was utilized as a preliminary analysis to determine if adverse conditions were present within the assembly line unloading workstation and highlight those areas which may pose the highest risk associated with employees developing MSD's. Subsequently, the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation was administered to determine the extent of risk associated with the task and established the recommended weight that the workers should be allowed to lift during the completion of this activity. Finally, the Snook Tables were utilized to highlight the adverse conditions present at the workstation by identifying the limited percentage of the human population that could safely complete the task. Additionally, the Snook Tables were utilized to establish a guideline for recommendations when redesigning the assembly line unloading workstation to accommodate a larger percentage of workers, while simultaneously decreasing the employee's exposure to adverse ergonomic conditions.

Data Collection Procedures

The following procedures were utilized to collect the necessary data for the purposes of an ergonomic analysis of the assembly line unloading workstation:

- An appointment with Company XYZ's was coordinated with the safety and health manager, production supervisor, and human resources office to determine an appropriate time to conduct the study.
- Approximately 30 minutes of video and 25 still photographs of the workstation were obtained from various angles of workers performing the task.
- 3) Workstation measurements were acquired on-site by utilizing a tape measure, an infrared thermometer, and a single axial force gauge. Linear measurements were documented in feet and inches, temperature readings were recorded in degrees Fahrenheit, and objects' mass were obtained in pounds.
- The video and photographic images were reviewed to determine the workers' body positioning, joint angles, and task-cycle rates.
- 5) The data was applied to ETAW, NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation, and Snook Tables.
6) Several years of pertinent records were reviewed to obtain relevant information regarding worker compensation premium payments, medical claims, illness and injury reports, as well as employee staffing levels and attrition rates.

Video and photographic images collection procedures. The digital video recorder was affixed to the top of a five foot tripod and positioned at ground level approximately 25 feet from the assembly line unloading workstation in such a manner to include both substations within its unobstructed field of view. Still photographic images were manually obtained utilizing a digital camera from multiple angles and distances throughout various stages of the task.

Workstation measurement procedures. The workstation environmental conditions were obtained utilizing various instrumentations. Linear dimensions were acquired using a tape measure and recorded in feet and inches. Temperature readings were acquired by utilizing an infrared thermometer by aiming the laser at sample of three manufactured metal products approximately one second prior to a worker removing it from the overhead conveyor line. The temperature readings were recorded in degrees Fahrenheit. A single axial force gauge was utilized to obtain the mass of the manufactured metal product. The random sample of three manufactured metal products was removed from the assembly line and the weight of each piece recorded in pounds. A mean weight was determined from the samples of manufactured metal products and the average was utilized for all ergonomic-related calculations.

Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet procedures. The video and photographic images were reviewed and the conditions applied to the criteria included on the ETAW. Each section (repetition, posture, vibration, reach/proper height, force, static loading and fatigue, pressure/contact stress/repeated impacts, lifting and material handling, and environment) of the ETAW was completed in a manner consistent with the procedures described within the

assessment tool. The results were utilized to determine if the conditions present at the workstation corresponded with the predetermined criteria in order to be classified at the ideal, warning level/monitor, or take action category. Only the conditions that corresponded to the warning level/monitor and take action sections of this assessment tool were analyzed for corrective solutions.

Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation procedures. Precise linear dimensions of the conditions present at the assembly line unloading workstation were acquired and recorded. The video and photographic images were reviewed to obtain measurements with regard to the asymmetric angle of spinal twisting as well as hand coupling conditions. Measurements were then applied to the NIOSH Lifting Equation in a manner consistent with the procedures as previously described in Chapter Two with the purpose of determining the RWL. The average weight of the manufactured metal product and the RWL were applied to the appropriate equation to determine the LI a manner consistent with the procedures previously described in Chapter Two.

Snook Tables procedures. Since the duties at the assembly line unloading workstation is primarily divided into three separate activities of an initial lifting phase, a carrying task, and a lowering action, three corresponding Snook Tables were utilized. Additionally, the tables are separated into a male (M) and a female (F) category. For the purposes of this study the flowing tables were utilized:

- Table 2F Female population percentages for lifting tasks ending between knuckle and shoulder height (approximately 28 inches and above to no more than 53 inches).
- Table 2M Male population percentages for lifting tasks ending between knuckle and shoulder height (approximately 31 inches and above to no more than 57 inches).

- Table 11F Female population percentages for carrying tasks.
- Table 11M Male population percentages for carrying tasks
- Table 5F Female population percentages for lowering tasks beginning between knuckle and shoulder height (approximately 28 inches and above to no more than 53 inches).
- Table 5M Male population percentages for lowering tasks beginning between knuckle and shoulder height (approximately 31 inches and above to no more than 57 inches).
 Linear distances, cycle rates, body positioning and object's weight were applied to the table in a manner consistent with procedures described in the Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines.

Document review procedures. Company XYZ's records were reviewed for relevant information regarding its WC insurance premiums, medical claims, illness and injury reports, as well as employee staffing levels and attrition rates. Four years of WC insurance premiums and direct medical payments were analyzed and compared with the State of Wisconsin's metal goods manufacturing industry averages. The OSHA 300 logs for the previous four years, or similar documentation, were reviewed and only the illness and injury reports which occurred at the assembly line unloading workstation were recorded. Four years of former Finishing Division employee files were reviewed to determine the worker attrition rate of those personnel.

Limitations

The following limitations were present throughout this study:

• Due to Company XYZ's industrial trade secrets and privacy concerns, no identifiable information regarding this organization, its employees, and the specific products manufactured was described.

- All of Company XYZ's loss-based data and personnel information was provided in a summary format and not obtained from the originating documents.
- Due to the organization's policy of worker task rotation, loss-based records and personnel attrition rates included employees within the entire Finishing Division of Company XYZ.
- The worker compensation premium rates identified were company-wide and not specifically attributed to the Finishing Division or assembly line unloading workstation.
- This ergonomic analysis is limited to the conditions present, including the workers and the specific metal manufactured product which was being unloaded, at the workstation during data collection phase of the study in early to late November of 2012.

Chapter IV: Results

The purpose of this study was to analyze conditions at the assembly line unloading workstation in Company XYZ's Finishing Division to determine if such posed an ergonomic risk to associated employees. In order to realize this purpose, the following three goals were established:

- Analyze the assembly line unloading workstation by utilizing various ergonomic assessment tools.
- Review the company's illness and injury records to determine the extent of reported musculoskeletal disorders.
- Review the company's worker compensation and personnel records to determine insurance premium rates, medical payments, and employee turnover.

This chapter will review the information obtained during the data gathering phase of this study. All information was obtained by utilizing the procedures outlined in Chapter III of this paper. The procedures included obtaining and reviewing video and still photographic images, acquiring workstation measurements, and applying the conditions to several ergonomic assessment tools. Additionally, several years of Company XYZ's loss-related records and personnel files were reviewed for relevant data.

General Workstation Description

The assembly line unloading workstation is located in the Finishing Division of Company XYZ. This workstation is the final step in the manufacturing procedure when workers manually remove the finished item from the overhead assembly line after it emerges from the powder coating process. The manufactured metal product is then manually stacked on a wooden pallet to prepare for shipping.

The workstation's floor was constructed of concrete which appeared to be free of obstructions or significant variations in elevation. A 48 by 60 inch anti-fatigue mat was located in-line with the conveyor at each of the two substations. Atmospheric temperature at the workstation was approximately 68 degrees Fahrenheit and the lighting appeared to be at an adequate level for completing the task. Each manufactured metal item weighed approximately 65.5 pounds (see Table 1), is constructed of 2.75 inch round steel tubing, measured 40.25 inches in length, and was coated in a glossy paint. A triangular steel plate was joined to each end of the manufactured metal product in a manner which places it perpendicular to the tube. The steel plate measured 16 inches at the widest end and tapers off to 2.75 inches at the point where it is attached to the tubing. At the wide end of each plate, the steel is bent at a 90 degree angle so to form a two-inch lip. Surface temperature of the manufactured metal products being removed at the assembly line unloading workstation ranged from 86.7 and 95.3 degrees Fahrenheit.

Both assembly line unloading substations were supplied manufactured metal products from a single overhead conveyor system at a constant rate of six to seven pieces per minute. The assembly line was a single-row, overhead conveyor system which was located approximately eight feet above ground level. Metal hooks were attached to the conveyor system in order to suspend a single manufactured metal product by one of the predrilled holes in the two-inch lip of the steel plate. Workers were unable to control the rate at which the manufactured metal products are supplied to the assembly line unloading workstation. An emergency shutoff switch was located approximately 25 feet from substation A and was easily accessible. As the manufactured metal product approached the assembly line unloading workstation, the worker occupying Substation A manually removed the item in such a manner which allowed several pieces to reach Substation B. Each manufactured metal product must travel an additional 15 feet to arrive at Substation B. Both workers typically performed the task at a pace which was faster than the conveyor provided the manufactured metal product. This caused a need for the workers to walk an even further distance to remove the product from the assembly line and return to the shipping pallet.

Once removed from the overhead conveyor, the manufactured metal product was then placed on a wooden pallet to prepare the item for shipping. Both substations were equipped with an automatic machine which wrapped the fully loaded shipping pallet with plastic. Each fully loaded pallet contained 20 manufactured metal items, stacked in four rows of five pieces. A single five-inch high wooden shipping pallet was located on a three-inch thick rotating platform. The rotating platform was used by the automatic wrapping machine to spin the loaded pallet while the plastic was fed from the roller. No type of caging or guarding was present at the automatic wrapping machine. After the wrapping was complete, a powered industrial truck removed the fully loaded shipping pallet. The worker then placed a new shipping pallet on the automatic wrapping machine platform to repeat the process. The entire process is repeated approximately every seven minutes. Slight deviations of procedures were observed, depending on the distance workers walked to retrieve the manufactured metal product and the number of rows of product on the shipping pallet. However, the following descriptions are a generally accurate depiction of the procedures at each substation.

Table 1

Manufactured Metal Product Weights

Sample	Sample #1	Sample #2	Sample #3	Average
Weight	65.5	65.5	65.5	65.5

Substation A Task Description

The worker, while wearing cotton gloves with a non-slip coating, approached the assembly line until his body was approximately six to eight inches from the suspended manufactured metal product. He flexed his lumbar region of the spine approximately 10 degrees while simultaneously reaching with both arms to grasp the product. His right shoulder flexed to approximately 30 degrees while the right elbow was flexed to 50 degrees. The right forearm and wrist maintained a neutral position as the hand utilized a wide grip to grasp the manufactured metal product at a position approximately eight to 10 inches below the top of the object. His left shoulder remained in a neutral position while the elbow flexed to approximately 160 degrees. The worker's left forearm rotated to a fully supinated posture while the wrist was extended to 45 degrees as the worker grasped the two-inch lip of the steel plate. He lifted the manufactured metal product approximately four to five inches until the item disengaged from the hook.

Once the manufactured metal product was free from the hook, the worker rotated the item to a horizontal position. The worker's right shoulder was in a neutral posture and the elbow flexed at 90 degrees while the corresponding forearm was rotated to a fully supinated position, supporting the product. His left hand remained gripping the two-inch lip at the end of the product which caused the worker's shoulder to abduct from the body by approximately 30 degrees. The worker then walked approximately seven to 15 feet until he reached the shipping pallet. As the worker approached the pallet, he stepped up on the three-inch platform and positioned himself directly in front of the pallet. The worker flexed both knees to approximately 150 degrees while simultaneously flexing the lumbar region of the spine to 50 degrees. He flexed both shoulders to approximately 90 degrees and fully extended the elbows to place the

manufactured metal product upon the shipping pallet. This process is then repeated until the shipping pallet is fully loaded.

Substation B Task Description

The worker, while wearing cotton gloves with a non-slip coating, approached the manufactured metal product until his body was approximately four to six inches from the item. His spine maintained an upright posture while he reached out with both arms to grasp the product. The worker's right shoulder flexed to approximately 20 degrees while the elbow flexed to 70 degrees. His right forearm and wrist maintained a neutral position as the hand utilized a wide grip to grasp the manufactured metal product at a position approximately eight inches below the top of the object. The worker's left shoulder remained in a neutral position while the elbow flexed to approximately 160 degrees. His left forearm rotated to a supinated posture and the wrist was extended to 45 degrees as the worker grasped the two-inch lip of the steel plate. The worker lifted the manufactured metal product approximately four to five inches until the item disengaged from the hook.

Once the manufactured metal product was free from the hook, the worker rotated the item to a semi-horizontal position. His right shoulder remained in a neutral posture and the elbow flexed at 90 degrees while the corresponding forearm was rotated to a partial-supinated posture, supporting the product. The worker's left hand remained gripping the two-inch lip at the end of the product and the left shoulder was positioned in a neutral posture. His left elbow was flexed to 120 degrees and the corresponding forearm was in a supinated position. The worker then walked approximately 7 to 15 feet until he reached the shipping pallet. As the worker approached the pallet, he stepped up on the three-inch platform and positioned himself directly in front of the pallet. The worker flexed both knees to approximately 135 degrees while flexing the

lumbar region of the spine to 90 degrees. He flexed both shoulders to approximately 90 degrees and fully extended the elbows to place the manufactured metal product upon the shipping pallet. The process is then repeated until the shipping pallet is fully loaded.

Ergonomic Analysis of the Workstation

The video and still images were reviewed and the measurements evaluated in order to analyze workstation conditions with the intent to identify the possible presence of ergonomic stressors. Each of the ergonomic assessment tools were utilized in a manner consistent with the methodology outlined in Chapter Three. First, the Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet (ETAW) was completed as a preliminary assessment to highlight the most severe conditions which may cause workers to develop MSD's. Second, the NIOSH Revised Lifting Equation was applied to determine the recommended weight limit (RWL) and the lifting index (LI) associated with the task. Third, the Snook Tables were utilized to identify what percentage of the human population could reasonably be expected to complete this task in a safe manner. The following information is a result of these assessment tools.

Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet results. The ETAW identified conditions which corresponded to the criteria in the ideal, warning level/monitor, and take action sections. Conditions at both substations were individually applied to the ETAW and results for each were analyzed. An analysis of both completed ETAW's (see Appendix B) revealed that Substation A and Substation B contained identical conditions which may be likely to cause workers to develop MSD's. The conditions which corresponded to the most severe risk (take action) section are:

- Repetition (1B)
- Hand Posture (5B)
- Wrist Posture (6A and 6B)

- Reach (9A, 9C, 10A, 10B, and 10C)
- Force (11B, 12B, 13A, 13B, 14B, and 16B)
- Static Loading (19B)
- Pressure/Contact Stress/Repeated Impacts (20B)
- Lifting and Material Handling (21B)
- Environment (24B)

The conditions which correspond to the moderate risk (Warning Level/Monitor) section are:

- Reach (9D)
- Force (17A)
- Static Loading (18A)
- Environment (27A, 29A, and 30A)

Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation results. The Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation was utilized to calculate the RWL and LI. Each of the two substations of the assembly line unloading workstation was analyzed separately (see Appendix C). It appears the RWL is considerably less than the actual weight of the object lifted and the LI is significantly greater than the target value of 1.0 for both substations (see Table 2).

Table 2

Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation	Substation A		Substat	ion B
	Phase I (Lift)	Phase II (Lower)	Phase I (Lift)	Phase II (Lower)
RWL	7.2	4.7	8.2	4.7
LI	9.2	14.0	8.0	13.9

RWL and LI for Substation A and Substation B

Snook Tables results. The Snook Tables were utilized to determine what percentage of the human population could reasonably be expected to complete this task in a safe manner. A review of the completed Snook Tables (see Appendix D) suggests that a significant portion of the population is unable to perform the task at the assembly line unloading workstation. According to the results, only 16 to 48 percent of males would be expected to complete the task safely. Additionally, the results indicate that less than 10 percent of females are expected to be able to perform any portion of this task safely (see Table 3).

Table 3

Snook Tables Substation A Substation B Male Female Male Female Table 2 (Lift) 38% < 10% 38% < 10% 22% - 49% Table 11 (Carry) 22% - 49% < 10% < 10% < 10% Table 5 (Lower) 16% - 29% < 10%16% - 29%

Percentages of the Human Population that Could Perform the Task Safely

Document Review

Several years of records were reviewed to obtain the worker compensation (WC) insurance premium rates for Company XYZ. These rates are expressed in number of dollars per \$100 of payroll and benefits paid to employees. This indicates for every \$100 the company pays to its employees for wage and benefit-related expenditures, an additional amount is paid to the applicable insurance company in WC premium. In Table 4, several years of Company XYZ's WC premium rates (including the experience modifier) were compared to that of the average metal good manufacturing (MGM) business located in the State of Wisconsin (WIDWD, n.d.).

While 2008's WC rate was significantly higher than the others, 2009 through 2011's seems to be consistent with the average MGM business.

Table 4

Comparison of the WC Premium Rates for the Average Wisconsin MGM Business and

Company XYZ

WC Premium Rates	2008	2009	2010	2011
Average Wisconsin MGM Business	\$8.41	\$8.41	\$8.68	\$8.05
Company XYZ Experience Modifier	1.59	1.02	1.01	.95
Company XYZ WC Premium Rate	\$13.37	\$8.58	\$8.77	\$7.65

Additionally, direct loss-related data for the employees engaging in duties at the assembly line unloading workstation were reviewed. From 2008 through 2011 assembly line unloading workstation employees experienced a total of six (see Table 5) OSHA Recordable illnesses and/or injuries. The six injuries and/or illnesses resulted in \$7,784 of direct costs that were paid by the WC insurance. While there was a minor WC payout in years 2008 and 2010, there were several significant payments in 2008, 2010, and 2011. Three of the six incidents resulted in \$6,589 in payments, which translates into that half on the illnesses and injuries were responsible for approximately 85 percent of the WC payouts for the years 2008 through 2011. The nature of each illness and injury were not reviewed for the purposes of this study.

Table 5

	2008	2009	2010	2011
Injury #1 Cost	\$120	\$834	\$240	\$1,173.31
Injury #2 Cost	\$2,211.51	-	\$3,205.58	-
Total Cost	\$2,331.51	\$834	\$3,445.58	\$1,173.31

Worker Compensation Payouts for Years 2008 Through 2011.

Finally, the personnel files of previous employees of Company XYZ's Finishing Division were reviewed to establish the attrition rate of associated workers. The number of Finishing Division employees was compared with the amount of workers that voluntarily resigned from the company or transferred to another department (see Table 6). It appears Company XYZ increased its staffing levels in 2011, while at the same time as experiencing a reducing in its attrition rate. However, for years 2008 through 2010, the attrition rate was at significant levels from15 to 30 percent turnover. This information does not include involuntary terminations or temporary, limited-term project hires. Specific reasons for the employees' voluntary resignations or transfers were not recorded.

Table 6

	2008	2009	2010	2011
Number of Employees	23	20	26	34
Employees Quit or Transferred	7	3	7	2
Attrition Rate	30.4%	15%	27%	6%

Finishing Division Employee Attrition Rate.

Chapter V: Conclusions and Recommendations

The purpose of this study was to analyze conditions at the assembly line unloading workstation in Company XYZ's Finishing Division to determine if such posed an ergonomic risk to associated employees. Initially, this study established three goals to accomplish in order to determine the risk associated with the assembly line unloading workstation. These goals were to evaluate the workstation for ergonomic stressors, review the company's illness/injury records, and analyze appropriate personnel records. Second, a comprehensive literature review was conducted to gather relevant information regarding ergonomics, manual material handling, and musculoskeletal disorders. Additionally, the literature review provided information on various assessment tools and methods available to analyze workstations for ergonomic stressors. Third, a worksite survey was completed at Company XYZ's Finishing Division utilizing several data collection methods and instrumentations. Finally, the data gathered during the survey was applied to the ergonomic assessment tools and analyzed for conditions which may cause workers to develop MSD's. The remainder of this chapter will discuss conclusions which may be drawn from the collected data as well as provide possible solutions in order to reduce the probability of employees being exposed to conditions which may lead to the development of MSD's.

Conclusions

Based upon the analysis of the various ergonomic assessment tools as well as a review of the associated literature, it is reasonable to conclude there are conditions present at the assembly line unloading workstation which are placing workers at a risk of developing MSD's. This conclusion is based on the following data gathered during a worksite survey:

• According to the Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet, 25 workplace conditions met the criteria to be classified as warning level/monitor or take action. Further analysis of the

50

ETAW revealed these conditions to be primarily (21 out of 25 conditions) related to the presence of extreme forces, deviated postures, and high repetition.

- The Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation recommended the maximum weight a worker should be allowed to lift, while completing a task similar to the assembly line unloading workstation, is between six and seven pounds. While the products manufactured by Company XYZ can vary greatly in weight, they are all above the recommended limit as proposed by this assessment tool. The results indicate that the phase which poses the highest amount of risk is the lowering portion of the task. The extent of the risk associated with the lowering portion task can be evidenced by the lifting index, which was factored to be 13.7 and 14 for Substation A and Substation B respectively.
- The results from the Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines (Snook Tables) indicated that less than 10 percent of the female population are able to perform the task safely. Additionally, the results also indicate only 16 to 49 percent of males could be able to perform this task safely. However, the 49 percent number is slightly misleading as this represents only the number of males who could perform the carry portion of the task safely. Once again, the analysis reveals that the lowering portion of the task is the highest risk for which only 16 to 29 percent of males could perform the job safely.
- During the worksite survey phase of the task, it was observed the anti-fatigue mats were not utilized in a manner for which they were intended. The workers did not maintain a consistent position on the mat to gain an appreciable level of benefit. Additionally, the mats were placed directly in the path of the workers while walking to remove a

manufactured metal product from the conveyor. This presented a possible tripping hazard due to the slight change in elevation of the walking surface.

- The gloves being utilized by the workers provided minimal cut and force protection from the edge of the lip located on the manufactured metal product's steel plate.
- The illness and injury records of Company XYZ revealed that over the course of four years, the assembly line unloading workstation produced six injuries and caused over \$7,700 in WC payments. While this amount represents money paid by the insurance and not a direct payment by Company XYZ, it affects overall expenses by increasing the cost of the WC premium. A reduction in the dollar amount paid by WC insurance may have a positive effect by reducing the overall premium paid by Company XYZ.
- Insurance records indicate that Company XYZ's WC premium rate was significantly above that of the state's average metal goods manufacturing businesses in 2008. In the following years, 2009 through 2011, the WC premium rate remained consistent with the state average. While the rates that were referenced applied to the entire facility, losses incurred at the assembly line unloading workstation contribute to this number and mitigating MSD's related to this task may potentially reduce the company's overall WC premium.
- The personnel turnover rate indicates that the Finishing Division experienced an average attrition rate of approximately 20 percent from the years 2008 through 2011. When utilizing the \$14,000 expense figure cited by O'Connell and Mei-Chuan (2007) as the price to replace a manufacturing employee, the financial burden of replacing those 19 workers, which voluntarily resigned or transferred out of the Finishing Division, can be

estimated to cost Company XYZ approximately \$266,000 over those corresponding four years.

All three primary ergonomic risk factors, as previously discussed in this paper, were present at the assembly line unloading workstation. Those primary risk factors, as well as the associated activities, are listed as follows:

- High forces, due to the weight of the manufactured metal product.
- Awkward posture, due to adverse body positioning (spinal flexion; shoulder flexion, extension, abduction).
- High repetition, due to the worker's completing six to seven task cycles per minute.

Additionally, the following conditions present at the assembly line unloading workstation may also increase the risk to employees are listed as follows:

- Duration, due to the workers performing this task for an entire eight-hour shift.
- Sharp edges, due to the worker utilizing the 90 degree lip present on the manufactured metal product to lift/carry the object.
- The worker standing/walking on concrete for an entire shift without the benefit of an antifatigue mat.
- The worker could be struck by the unguarded automatic wrapping machine while in operation.

Recommendations

It is recognized that Company XYZ is in the business of manufacturing a metal product and certain aspects of this process may inherently pose a risk to employees. However, it is reasonable to conclude that there are certain aspects of this task that may be modified to reduce the worker's overall exposure to potentially harmful conditions, therefore, providing a safer work environment and possibly increasing the workstation's efficiency. Therefore, the following recommendations are proposed with the intention of improving the conditions which would effectively reduce or possibly eliminate certain ergonomic stressors which are placing workers at a risk of developing MSD's:

- Establish and communicate a comprehensive ergonomics program which demonstrates the Company XYZ's commitment to a safe and healthy workplace. The ergonomic program, at a minimum should include the following:
 - Top management support expressed by adequately funding reasonable ergonomic initiatives.
 - Employee involvement through basic ergonomic training and establishing a process for recommending improvements.
 - Create an assessment process to identify ergonomic hazards associated with each task.
 - Maintain accurate ergonomic-based program records such as trainings, lossesrelated data, recommendations, and accomplishments.
- Raise the wooden shipping pallet to approximately the employee's waist height. This would significantly reduce the amount of awkward postures the worker must perform during the lowering portion of the task. It is recommended to utilize a powered adjustable scissor lift-type device as the pallet's surface may be optimized to accommodate multiple workers' heights. Additionally, by utilizing a self-adjusting scissor-lift, the work surface may be raised or lowered as needed when stacking multiple rows of the manufactured metal product on the shipping pallet.

- Add an additional employee to each substation to reduce the number of task cycles the worker is required to perform. Additionally, the extra worker would be available to utilize a two-person lift on heavy objects.
- Establish an employee rotation schedule which limits the worker's time at this workstation to no more than four hours per day.
- Instruct the workers on basic ergonomics. This training may include MSD warning signs as well as the optimal body postures and lifting/lowering procedures.
- Establish a short (approximately 10 minutes) pre-shift stretching routine to allow proper warm-up of the worker's muscles.
- Institute guidelines which state the workers are not to approach the conveyor to remove the manufactured metal product until it arrives at the corresponding substation. This will reduce the distance the worker must travel while carrying the heavy load.
- Supply each worker with a pair of gloves with a non-slip coating as well as extra padding, similar to the Youngstown Mechanic's Glove. This will protect the worker's hands from the pressure caused by the hard edge of the manufactured metal product's lip and from any residual heat retained by the product after emerging from the powder coating process. The non-slip coating will provide extra grip for the worker when handling the manufactured metal product.
- Remove the anti-fatigue mat from the workstation and supply each worker with an antifatigue overshoe similar to the Ergomates Soles. This will provide the benefits of an antifatigue mat while allowing the worker increased mobility at the workstation.

Recommendations for Additional Research

This analysis was limited to the specific conditions present at this workstation. Additional analysis may be beneficial to Company XYZ to provide greater detail regarding other solutions. The areas of additional research may include:

- Possible implementation of a powered assisted lifting device to reduce the load weight of the manufacture metal product.
- Redesign of the entire conveyor system which would allow the workers to control the rate that the products are supplied to the assembly line unloading workstation, without impacting amount of time the product is exposed to the powder coating process.
- Possible implementation of a robotic device which could automate the process to remove the manufactured metal product from the assembly line and stack the item on a shipping pallet.
- Design an enclosure for the automatic wrapping machine so as to prevent workers from being struck by the spinning load while the unit is in operation.

References

- 3M. (2011). 3M at a Glance. Retrieved from http://www.3m.com/
- 3M. (n.d.). Sustainability in-depth: Ergonomics program and performance. Retrieved from http://www.3m.com/
- Abduction. (2005). *Mosby's dictionary of complementary and alternative medicine*. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.lib.uwstout.edu:2231/entry/mosbycompmed/abduction
- Adduction. (2005). *Mosby's dictionary of complementary and alternative medicine*. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.lib.uwstout.edu:2231/entry/mosbycompmed/adduction
- Boynton, T., & Darragh, A. (2008). Participatory ergonomics intervention in a sterile processing center: A case study. *Work*, 31(1), 95-99.
- Brookhuis, K. (2008). From ergonauts to infonauts: 50 years of ergonomics research. *Ergonomics*, 51(1), 55-58.
- Charlton, S. G., & O'Brien, T. G. (2002). *Handbook of Human Factors Testing and Evaluation*. Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Christensen, J. (1976). Ergonomics: Where have we been and where are we going: II. *Ergonomics*, 19(3), 287-300.
- Deeney, C., & O'Sullivan, L. (2009). Work related psychosocial risks and musculoskeletal disorders: Potential risk factors, causation and evaluation methods. *Work*, 34(2), 239-248. doi:10.3233/WOR-2009-0821
- Dempsey, P. G., Wogalter, M. S., & Hancock, P. A. (2000). What's in a name? Using terms from definitions to examine the fundamental foundation of human factors and ergonomics science. *Theoretical Issues in Ergonomics Science*, 1(1), 3-10. doi:10.1080/146392200308426

Dow. (2011). Our Company. Retrieved from http://www.dow.com/

- Extension. (2005). *Mosby's dictionary of complementary and alternative medicine*. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.lib.uwstout.edu:2231/entry/mosbycompmed/extension
- Flexion. (2005). *Mosby's dictionary of complementary and alternative medicine*. Retrieved from http://ezproxy.lib.uwstout.edu:2231/entry/mosbycompmed/flexion
- Galley, M. (n.d.). 50 years of ergonomics where have we been and where are we going?. Retrieved from http://www.taylor.it
- Hess, J. A., & Hecker, S. (2003). Stretching at work for injury prevention: Issues, evidence, and recommendations. *Applied Occupational & Environmental Hygiene*, 18(5), 331
- Kennedy, C., Amick, B., Dennerlein, J., Brewer, S., Catli, S., Williams, R., & ... Rempel, D. (2010). Systematic review of the role of occupational health and safety interventions in the prevention of upper extremity musculoskeletal symptoms, signs, disorders, injuries, claims and lost time. *Journal of Occupational Rehabilitation*, 20(2), 127-162. doi:10.1007/s10926-009-9211-2
- Kociolek, A. M., & Keir, P. J. (2010). Reliability of distal upper extremity posture matching using slow-motion and frame-by-frame video methods. *Human Factors*, 52(3), 441-455. doi:10.1177/0018720810370340
- Kolber, M. J., & Hanney, W. J. (2012). The reliability and concurrent validity of shoulder mobility measurements using a digital inclinometer and goniometer: A technical report. *International Journal of Sports Physical Therapy*, 7(3), 306-313.
- Laing, A., Cole, D., Theberge, N., Wells, R., Kerr, M., & Frazer, M. (2007). Effectiveness of a participatory ergonomics intervention in improving communication and psychosocial exposures. *Ergonomics*, 50(7), 1092-1109

- Larson, N., & Wick, H. (2012). 30 years of ergonomics at 3M: A case study. *Work*, 41(0), 5091-5098
- Larsson, M., &Nordholm, L. (2008). Responsibility for managing musculoskeletal disorders a cross-sectional postal survey of attitudes. *BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders*, 9:110.
- Liberty Mutual Research Institute for Safety. (2004). Manual Materials Handling Guidelines. Hopkinton, MA: Snook, S., & Ciriello, V.
- Mahmud, N., Kenny, D., Zein, R., & Hassan, S. (2011). Ergonomic training reduces musculoskeletal disorders among office workers: results from the 6-month followup. *Malaysian Journal of Medical Sciences*, 18(2), 16-26.
- Mallon, J. (2012). Don't just manage musculoskeletal disorders, drive performance through ergonomics. *EHS Today*, 5(3), 55.
- Murrell, K. H. (1958). The Term 'Ergonomics'. *American Psychologist*, 13(10), 602. doi:10.1037/h0038393
- Musculoskeletal disorder. (2005). *Cambridge dictionary of human biology and evolution*. Retrieved from

http://ezproxy.lib.uwstout.edu:2231/entry/cuphbe/musculoskeletal_disorder

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (1994) *Applications Manual for the Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation*. (DHHS Publication No. 94-110).

National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (1997) *Musculoskeletal disorders and workplace factors: a critical review of epidemiologic evidence for work-related musculoskeletal disorders for the neck, upper extremity, and low back.* (DHHS Publication No. 97-141).

- National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. (2007) *Ergonomic Guidelines for Manual Material Handling*. (DHHS Publication No. 07-131).
- Nordander, C., Ohlsson, K., Akesson, I., Arvidsson, I., Balogh, I., Hansson, G., & ... Skerfving,
 S. (2009). Risk of musculoskeletal disorders among females and males in
 repetitive/constrained work. *Ergonomics*, 52(10), 1226-1239.
 doi:10.1080/00140130903056071
- Nussbaum, M., & Chaffin, D. (1999). Effects of pacing when using material handling manipulators. *Human Factors*, 41(2), 214-225.
- O'Connell, M., & Mei-Chuan, K. (2007). The Cost of Employee Turnover. *Industrial Management*, 49(1), 14-19.
- OSHA, (2004a). OSHA forms for recording work-related injuries and illnesses. Retrieved from http://www.osha.gov.
- OSHA, (2004b). Ergonomics case study: The Dow Chemical Company's use of Six Sigma methodology. Retrieved from

http://www.osha.gov/dcsp/success_stories/compliance_assistance/dow_casestudy.html

- Stanton, N., & Stammers, R. (2008). Bartlett and the future of ergonomics. *Ergonomics*, 51(1), 1-13.
- United States Bone and Joint Initiative, (2011). *The Burden of Musculoskeletal Diseases in the United States: Prevalance, Societal and Economic Cost, Second Edition.* Rosemont, IL: American Academy of Orthopaedic Surgeons
- United State Bureau of Labor Statistics. (2011). 2010 Nonfatal occupational injuries and illnesses: private industry, state government, and local government. Retrieved from http://stats.bls.gov/iif/oshwc/osh/case/osch0045.pdf

- Village, J., Backman, C. L., & Lacaille, D. (2008). Evaluation of selected ergonomic assessment tools for use in providing job accommodation for people with inflammatory arthritis. *Work*, 31(2), 145-157.
- Waters, T., Lu, M., Piacitelli, L., Werren, D., & Deddens, J. (2011). Efficacy of the revised NIOSH lifting equation to predict risk of low back pain due to manual lifting: Expanded cross-sectional analysis. *Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 53(9), 1061-1067. doi:10.1097/JOM.0b013e31822cfe5e
- Wells, R. (2009). Why have we not solved the MSD problem?. *Work*, 34(1), 117-121. doi:10.3233/WOR-2009-0937
- Wisconsin Department of Workforce Development (n.d.). Insurance rate comparisons. Retrieved from http://dwd.wisconsin.gov
- Wisconsin Office of the Commissioner of Insurance (2012). *Consumer's guide to worker's compensation insurance for employers*. (WIOCI Publication No. PI-065).

Appendix A: Blank Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet



Directions: **The Ergonomics Task Analysis Worksheet** provides a method for identifying, evaluating, and eliminating/controlling ergonomic risk factors. Observe several lask cycles prior to making notes or drawing conclusions. Score each risk factor (ideal, warning level, or take action) that most resembles the task you are analyzing. Once you have completed the worksheet, create an Action Plan (how to control or eliminate the risk factor), focusing on tasks from the "Take Action" column first. It is often helpful to videotape the job to facilitate a more detailed review and action plan.

Repetition

NIOSH defines a repetitive task as one with a lask cycle time of less than 30 seconds or performed for prolonged periods, such as an 8 hour shift.

ldeal	Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
 No repetitive hand or arm motions 	1A. Repetitive hand or arm motions with cycle times of 30-60 seconds	 Repetitive hand or arm motions with cycle times of less than 30 seconds
Posture		
Ideal	Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
2. Knees are straight, but not locked.	Standing 2A. Knees partly bent.	Standing 2B. Squatting > 3 has/day
Back is utright and straight. No twisting, reaching or bending.	B)	25. Kneeling > 3 hrs/day
(See reaching)	<u>)</u>]	26. Using a foct pedal 54
Sitting (3	Sitting 🧭	Sitting 🔗
3. Back and logs supported by comfortable chair. Feet are flat on floor or foot rest.	3A. Back is only partially supported or feet are not flat.	3B. Little support for legs and back. Feet do not touch floor.
Head/Neck	Head/Neck	Head/Neck
4. Hoad and neck are upright and straight	4A. Bert forward less than 2C°	4A. Bent forward more than 20" > 3 hrs/day

Posture (continued)



Vibration (Cherk with tool manufacturer for recommendations or warnings.)

Ide	al	Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
7.	No hand or arm vibration	7A. Occasional hand or arm vibration	7B. Constant hand or arm vibration
8.	No whole body vibration	8A. Occasional whole body vibration	8B. Constant whole body vibration

Reach/Proper Height

fuest.	warning Level - Monitor	
 Work should be performed at 90° or slightly above or below etbow tevel 	9A. Arris forward up to 45' or frequently maintained outside of the ideal position > 4 hrs/day	9A. Arms forward more than 45° or constantly maintained outside of the ideal position > 3 hrs/day
	9B. Arms back up to 20' and no more than 2-4 times per minute > 4 hrs/day	9B. Arms back more than 20' or more than 4 times per minute > 3 hrs/day
	9C. Elbows bent up to 25% above or below the ideal position > 4 brs/day	9C. Elbows bent more than 25% above or below the ideal position > 3 hvs/day
	9D. E.bows up to 45' away from body > 4 hrs/day	90. Elbows more than 45° away from body > 3 krs/day
10. No twisting, reaching or bending	10A. Twisting up to 45' or frequent twisting (2-4 times per minute)	10A. Twisting more than 45' or highly repetitive twisting (more than 4 times per minute)
A	IOB. Bending/reaching forward up to 45°, frequent bending (2-4 times per min- ute) or > 30% more than 4 hours per day without support	10B. Bending/reaching forward more than 45°, highly repetitive bending (more than 4 times per minute) or more than 2 hours per day without support
	100. Bending/reaching to the side up to 20° or frequent bending (2-4 times per minute)	10C. Bending/reaching to the side more than 20° or highly repetitive bending to the side (more than 4 times per minute)

Force

Force is the amount of physical effort required to do a task or maintain control of the tools or equipment. Effort depends on the weight of the object, type of grip, object dimensions, type of activity, slipperiness of the object and duration of the task.

Idea		Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
11.	Objects lifted by hand weigh less than 1 pound	11A. Objects lifted by hand weigh less than 1 pound and frequent lifting (no more than 20 times an bour)	11B. Objects lifted by hand weigh more than 1 pound or highly repetitive lifting (more than 20 times an hour)
12.	Objects lifted by the back weigh less than 5 pourds	12A. Objects lifted by the back weigh between 5 and 25 pounds or frequent lifting (no more than 20 times/bour)	223. Objects lifted by the back weigh more than 25 pounds or highly repetitive lifting (more than 20 times/hour)
Dors	ation	Auration	Duration
13.	No pinch grip used. Fingers and thumb comfortably fit around tool or object	13A. Moderate pinch grip or pinch grip with less than 2 pounds of force	13A. Severe pinch grip or pinch grip used with greater than 2 pounds of force
	E-E	13B. Grip is stightly too wide	133. Grip is extremely wide
14.	Power grip used with little to no force.	14A. Power grip used with less than 10 pounds of force. Forearm rotation force is less than 5 pounds	14B. Power grip used with more than 10 pounds of force. Forearm rotation force is more than 5 pounds
15.	Ertire hand controts trigger	15A. Thumb activated control	15B. Finger(s) activated control
16.	Tools or objects have handles that are rounded	16A. Awkward handles	168. Handles, tools or objects that concentrate force or have no handles
		16A. Tools with awkward handles	168. Handles that concentrate force
		16A. Objects with awkward handles	16B. Objects with no handles
Slip: 17.	Gloves do not need to be worn at any time	Slipperiness 17A. Gloves are needed but fit well	Slipperiness 17B. Gloves are needed but fil poorly

Static Loading and Fatigue

Static loading refers to staying in the same position for prolonged periods. Tasks that use the same muscles or motions for long durations (6 seconds or more at one time) and repetitively (more than 50% repetition) increase the likelihood of fatigue.

Ide	al de la companya de	Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
Dur. 18.	ation Constant position, tool or object is held less than 6 seconds	Duration 18A. Constant position, tool or object is held 6 to 10 seconds	Duration 18B. Constant position, tool or object is held more than 10 secords
Rep 19.	etition Less than 25% of the task is repetitive	Repetition 19A. 25% to 50% of the task is repetitive	Repetition 19B. More than 50% of the task is repetitive

Pressure/Contact Stress/Repeated Impacts

Refers to pressure or contact from tools or equipment handles with narrow width that create local pressure. It also applies to sharp corners of desks or counter tops. Impact refers to the use of hands, knees, foot, etc. as a hammer. (Related to Force Conditions in item 16.)

20. No coptact or impact stress: 20A.Occasional and minimal 2	a dia any ana ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang
tools, objects, or workstation do not press against banks or body do not press against banks or body. Hand, knee or other body part used as hammer fess than 2 hours/day	20B. Constant pressure or impact on hands or body. Hand, knee or other body part used as hammer more than 2 hours/day

Lifting and Materials Handling

Ideal		Warning Level - Monitor	Take Action
21. % #	to lifting or lowering of naterials (see also Force for weights of objects handled)	21A.Occasional lifting and/or lowering (no more than 20 times per hour)	218. Constant lifting and/or lowering (more than 20 times per hour)
Push/ 22. N	Pull to pushing or pulling of arts or materials	Push/Pull 22A.Pushing or pulling 10-50 carts per shift	Push/Pull 228. Pushing or pulling more than 50 carts per shift
23. SI P P	light force is required to ush or pull carts or materials, ushing is preferred over ulling objects.	23A.Moderate force is required to push or pull carts or materials.	23B. High force is required to push or pull materials.

Environment

Wm	d. Beas	Nidewith Dama	Lucal Date
24.	Worker has adequate control over work pace.	24A. Worker has some control over work pace.	248, Worker has no controt over work pace.
Ligi 25.	nting The lighting is adequate for the task.	Lighting 25A. The lighting is slightly too bright or too dark for the task.	Lighting 25B. The lighting is significantly too bright or too dark for the task.
Теп 26.	perature The temperature is comfortable.	Temperature 26A. The temperature is slightly too cold or too hot.	Temperature 26B. The temperature is significantly too cold or too hot.
Noi: 27.	se The work area is quiet.	Noise 27A. The work area is slightly noisy.	Noise 27B. The work area is significantly noisy (too noisy to carry on a conversation).
Floo 28. 29.	or Surface The flooring provides good traction. The flooring is sufficiently padded to relieve stress	Floor Surface 28A. The flooring is stightly slippery. 29A. The flooring contributes slight stress to the	 Floor Surface 28B. The flooring is moderately Lo extremely slippery. 29B. The flooring contributes moderate to extreme stress
30.	on back and legs. Floor mats are provided to relieve stress on back and legs. Employee can alternate between sitting and standing.	back and legs. 30A. Standing 0-50% of time without floor mats or other means to relieve stress on back and legs.	to the back and logs. 30B. Standing more than 50% of time without floor mats or other means to relieve stress on back and logs.

Comments:

Note: The levels provided above are standard practices which have been accepted or established by NIOSH, OSHA, ANSII and other related organizations.

We have proven the probability of the horizon to prevaip uneption of the window for window structure in modeling with information, least hourise to are standing that all private the information for the horizon of the structure of the structu

facat Americant and Grave American Discounce Graupt i are registered word to many mound by lower American Interactive Company.

" 2000, 2004 Grant American Insquarter Company, Actinghts several. COD-503-24. (4/64)

	CORUCION	Ideal	Level	Acti
Rep	efition			1
l	No repetitive hand at arm mations. (Maritor if recetitive cycle every 30.60 seconds; take at Low if impartitive cycle of less than 30 seconds.)	1	1A	10
Post	ure			
	Stancing, with lineas straight but not locked. (Accure is starting with knees partially bend: toke action if asirg a fost pedat or scientific or kreeting more than 3 bours/day.)	2	2A	28
-	Sitting, back and legs confortably supported, realitation floor/floor mst. (Monitor if back partially supported of foot <u>stat flat on floor</u> ; take action if Ut <u>ile support for back</u> and legs, leat not Louching (Loon)	3	. JA	30
í.	Head and nack are upright and straight. (Morrison' Phone and north are bent torward < 20"; take action if >20" >3 hours/day.)	4	44	12
	Head and pack are bent back (Monitor it < 10): take action $x > 10^{\circ}$.)	4	4B	- 51
	Bred and nack are bent sideways. (Monitor if $< 2C^2$; inselfaction if $> 20^2$.)	4	40	61
	Head and mark and lake our (Alumitor if a 2011 take order if 12001)		40	61
	Lands (astronomical effective) (Manifestia bands schola - 20% enter attion (Canada astronomical)			
•	Wrists are straight. (Hanitor if wrists are bent, extension/flexion, < 30' for 5-30 times/minute; take or fion if	2	5A	2
	pent >20° or >30 times/minute.	6	60	0.
	Wrists move sidewaye, ulnav/radra (Morrier if < 26" and 5-30 times/minute; take action if hont >20" or >50 times/minute.)	ő	ъВ	58
film	alion	÷.	- S.S.	
•	ao aardi or anni vilo anon, coaceron ni occasionan, soce occuon ni constanci, j	6	16	0
S.,	to whole body vibration. (Agnitur it occasional; take period it constant.)	8	БΛ	8
E 40				
	Are's positioned at elbow lavel. (<i>Monifor</i> if up to 45' or frequently out of ireal position for more than a nours/tay: <i>Lake action</i> (<i>f</i> ares are forward >45' or constantly out of ideal position >3 hours/day)	ş	5A	9
	Ams back. (<i>Monitor if arms</i> back up to 20° between P44 times/ministe for more t <u>tan 4 hours/day: toke action if arms back >20° pr >4 times/minute for more than 3 <u>hours/day.)</u></u>	9	9B	9
	Obows been seware. (Monitor if elbows bert up to 25% above or below iccal position >4 hours/day; toke action if tent appeard >25% above or below ideal position >3 hours/day.)	8	9C	9
	Elbows away from body. (Monitor if elbows are up to 45° away from horly >4 & ours/day; take action if elbows are >45° away from body >3 nours/day.)	9	9D	9
D	No Luisting, reaching or bending, twisting/seperifier. (Menifor it twisting Lp to 45' or 2-4 times/minute: take action if >45' or >4 times/minute.)	10	ACC	10
	Reaching/bending forward. (Monitor it bending/reaching forward up to 45' or 4-4 times/minute or >30' for =4 ms/cay w/oat support: this period if >45' or >4 shees/minute or >2 hrs/day w/out support.)	10	1.7B	:0
	Reaching/bending to the side. (Monitor if up to 20" or 2-4 times/minute: take action if >20" or >4			£
	Lim <u>ss/minute.)</u>	10	100	16
orta 1.	e Dojects lifted by hand weigh less coan one sound. (<i>Numitor</i> if objects weighing ~ 1 tb. are lifted up to 20	52		
	cimes/fiact; take action in objects weigh >2 to, or thing acture >20 times/hole;)	1.	11/	, aa
2.	Objects lifted by the lanck whigh less than 5 potends. (Monitor if objects weigh 5-25 its, or lifting occurs ap to 20 times/hour; take action if objects weigh >25 its, or Ufiling accurs >20 times/hour.)	17	124	12
\$.	No girsch grip used. (Notilitor use of pinch grip will < 2 dus. of force; toke option if placin grip with >2 lbs. of	12	17.5	1.
	torce is used) Were cluch grip used, (Monitor 'i slightly too wide: 15/6 action if extremely wide.)	13	13A 13B	13
L.	Power grip used with on terms. (<i>Manitor</i> if power grip with $*$ 10 ibs. Here is used and foregrin instalion force is $<50b_{2}$; take action if cover up with >10 lbs, farce is used and foregrin instalion force is >5 ibs.)	14	14A	14
	Falicy hand controls tripped (Media); if there is controls, take action if fingerist carries 1	15	15A	15
	Tools or objects have sensed a added applier (<i>Heriter</i> if houdles are values should while if there are no		857976	1
.	handles or har dies conce thate three.)	16	163	16
	Liozes do not noed to be worn it any this. (Konto ril gloves are needed but fit will: take action it gloves (it pourly)	17	ί7λ	17
tati	ic Loading and Patigue			
š	Fonction: constring, lock or object is held less their 5 seconds. (Monitor if held between 6-10 seconds, john notion if held alle records.)	18	182	18
	Loss then 200, of the bury is manufactor (Maniford Fig. 200) and the action if .cov condition it	10	124	10
	new man cash as one take its laber river or stating in 155,00% indertition; river of 169, 1, 500,6 (abbit river)			8.17
ree:),	sure/Contact Surest/Repeated Impacts No esslact/Empart stress (Monitor if occasional pressure or body part is used as harmine: < 2 kours/sky:	20	201	20

Summary Worksheet

Date _ ____

Condition	-)deal	Wansing Level	Take Action
Lifting and Materials Uproling	1		
 No lifting or levering of materials. (Monitor if accessional and/or no more than 20 Sects/hours roke action if constant and/or greater than 20 times/hour 	21	21A	21B
22 No pushing or pulling of materials. (Measior K push r g/pulling 10-50 carts/shirt: toke action if pushing/pulling more Loap 50 carts/gift.)	22	224	22D
 Slight force is required to puth or pull materials. (Manitor + moderate force is required, take action if high force is required.) 	73	24A	23B
freitersent			
24. Abritan has acceptate conflict, over workplant. (MonRAW if worker has some control: tase action if works has to control.)	26	26A	246
25. Lighting is adequate for the task. (Maritor if slightly too dark or oright; take action if significantly too dark or bright.)	25	25A	256
26 Traperature is comfertable. (Monitor if slightly too co.d or tor; toke entror if significantly tou cold or hot.)	20	26A	200
27. Work area is quiet. (Manifar if slightly too voisy: take action is significantly too noisy.)	21	27A.	278
28. Electing provides good traction. (Manitor if Rearing, is shared, stippery; take action if maderately to extremely slippery.)	88	28A	288
 Rooring is sufficiently added to relieve stross on back and legs. (NonPar if slight stress to back and legs) time prior if moderately to extreme stress.) 	20	29A	290
30. Floor mats are provided. Employee can alternate between sitting and standing. (Monitor if employee is standing up to 50% of shift without floor mats or obser sinces relief for back and lags; take action if standing >50% of shift without floor mats or other relief for back and lags.	50	30A	308

Action Plan

loday's cate:	Date Solution to be Comple	tec	
Location/Department:			
Job/Task Title:			
Evaluator:			
Describe MSD in provious 24 months:			
Task:			
Summary of Problem:			
Alternative Solution and Costs:			
Recommended Solution: 1) Engineeri	ng		
2) Administrative:			
3) Use of personal protective equipme	ent		
Date Solution Actually Completed:		Actual Cost:	
	GREATAMERICAN		

ne experience. Nonaries teache many equivies since y courses als second for minure, bis in in v. estel second since in public part information. Les second second

Real Instance and Dress Adversary Transmissional Low Applicate Applies and a series by Serie Application Transmission and Applications

A NOT 1964 Sout According to some a formally All right, and well \$10.553 is address

	Condition	Ideal	Warning Level	Take Action
Кер 1.	etition No repetitive band or arm motions, (<i>Monitor</i> if repetitive cycle every 30-60 seconds; <i>luka motion</i> if repetitive <u>cycle of less than 30 seconds.)</u>	1	14	(15)
Pasi 7.	ore Standing, with knees straight but not locked. (<i>Manitor</i> if standing with knees partially bent: <i>rate action</i> if using a topt pedal or squatting or kneeling more than 3 nours/day.)	(2)	20	25
э.	Suting, back and legs comfortably supported, feet Ration floor/floor rest. (<i>Manitor</i> if back partially supported or foot not flat an floor; take action if little support for back and legs. Feet not touching floor.)	6	24	38
<i>6.</i>	Heed and neek are upright and straight. (<i>Monitor</i> if head and neek are bent forward < 20'; take action (f <20' >3 Spens/May.)	(a)	4 A	4A
	Head and neck are bent pack. (Manipp: if $< 10^{\circ}$; into action if $< 10^{\circ}$.)	6	48	45
	Head and nack are part sideways. (Monuter if a 201: Joky withing it w201))	G)	<u>کار</u>	40
	Head and metric a classical days (Holyton in second and a second se	8		-10
	Head and neck are twisting. (Monitor IT < 20.) take action it >20.)	642	LIb	40
5. 5.	<u>Honds (palms) are vertical.</u> (Monitor if hands rotate < 20'; take action if hands rotate <20'; Wrists are straight, (Monitor if wrists are bent, extension/flexion, < 20' for 5-30 times/minute; take action if	5	5A	(58)
	bent >20° er >30 tings/minute.)	Ğ	6A	(SA)
	Wrists move sideways, afranzial. (4boobs: if < 26° and 5-30 times/minute; toke action if bent >20° or -30 times/minute.)	6	GB	Ī
Vib	ation	-		
7.	No hand or arm vibrations. (Menglor of generational) lake action of constants)	Q	IA	78
8.	<u>No whole body vibration. (Monitor if occessional; take action if cunstant.)</u>	$\langle 0 \rangle$	ēΑ	8 8
қеас 9,	n Ann's prisitionen at e bow level. (Monitor if up to 45° or frequently out of ideal position for more than 4 <u>homs/day, <i>take action</i> if arms are forward e45° or constantly out of ideal position e3 hours/day.)</u>	Э	Ae	(F)
	Anns back. (Monitor if anns back up to 20' between 2-4 times/minute for more than 4 hours/day: toke action if anns back >20' or >4 times/minute for more than 3 hours/day.)	\odot	98	98
	Elbows bent upward, (<i>Movifue</i> II elbows bent up to 25% accessor helow ideal position =4 hours/cay; <i>take</i> action # bent upward = <u>25% pluces or below ideal position =3 hours/cay.</u>)	9	96	Ð
	Ethows away from body. (Monitor if ethows are up to 45' wavey from Koply >4' mins/day: Inter action K ethows are >45' away from body >3 hours/day.)	9	6	90
16.	No twisting, reaching or bending, twisting/repetitive. (<i>Monitor</i> it twisting up to 45° or 2-4 times/minute: take action if >45° or >4 times/minute.)	10	108	COA
	Reaching/banding forward, (Monitor if bending/reaching forward up to 45° or 2-4 times/minute or >30° for ~4 ms/day w/but support: take action if >45° or >4 times/minute or >2 hrs/day w/owe support.)	10	108	68
	Reaching/pending to the side. (<i>Manita</i> r if up to 20° or 2-4 times/minute; take action if >20° or >4 times/minute;	10	100	500
Forc	entre contra se se server avait server se se asses torte server server server			2
11.	Objects lifted by hand weigh loss than and pound. (Menvior if objects weighing < 1 lb. are lifted up to 20 times/hour; take action if objects weigh >1 lb. at Biting octure >20 times/hour;	11	19A	(B)
12.	Objects lifted by the back weigh less than 5 poinds, (Monitor if objects weigh 5-25 lbs. or afting occurs up to 2D times/hour; taxe mation if objects weigh s25 lbs. or affing up, us s20 limes/hour.)	12	12A	(2B
13	No producting tip used. (Monitor tise of pinch grip with < 2 list, of force; take action if princh grip with >2 list, of force; take action if princh grip with >2 list, of force; take action if princh grip with >2 list.	13	13A	(3A)
	Wide pinch grip used. (Matritor if sightly too wide: take action if extremely wide.)	13	13B	(13B
14.	Power grip used with no force, (Monitor & yower grip with < 30 lbs. force is used and forearm rotation force is <8 lbs.) take potion if power gdp with <10 lbs. force is used and forearm rotation force is <6 lbs.)	14	:4h	08
15.	Entire hand costrols trigger. (Manitor if thuma controls: take action if finger[s] control.)	65	15A	15B
96.	foois or objects have rounded, padded hardles. (Movitor if bancles are awkwaid; take orthon if items are no banches concentrate force).	16	16A	(61)
27	Shows the polynomial barry tress. (Manifor it groves are needed but hit well; take action it gloves fit performed to be write at any tress.	1/	Œ	178
C+-+	ic Loading and Editoria		0.000	
18.	Constant position, tool or object is held loss than 6 seconds. (Monitor if held between 6-10 seconds) take order of held >10 seconds.)	18	Car	. 15B
10	Less than 25% of the task is reputilize, <i>iW miles</i> if 25 50% would live take a time if \$59%, we etilize it	19	19A	196
Pres	smo/Contact Stress/Reperted Impacts			0
29.	No contact/impact stress (<i>Minitar</i> if poccasional pressure or bady pail is used as hominor < 2 104/6/GAV; <u>four action if constant</u> pressure or body pair is used as ha <u>mmer >2 hours/dav;</u>	20	20A	(75)

Appendix B: The Completed Ergonomic Task Analysis Worksheet (Substation A & B)

Summary	Wor	ks.	heet	ĺ
---------	-----	-----	------	---

substation A

ş	lummary Worksheet Substation A	Date _	11/8/1	Z
	Condition	Ideal	Warning Level	Take Action
1	Ifting and Raterials Handling	1		-
	 No lifting or lowering of materials. (<i>Konitor</i> if occessional and/or no more than 20 times/hour; take action if constant and/or greater than 20 times/hour. 	21	214	ab
	 No susting or pulling of materials. (Mention it anxhing/pulling 10-50 certs/sast: Take oction if hushing/pulling more than 50 carts/shift.) 		224	22B
	 Slight force is required to push or pull materials. (Monitor it moderate force is required; make remine if high force is required.) 	6	23A	238
ŝ	nvironahent			1
	24. Worker has acould ate control over workplace. (Monitor if worker that some control: taxe action if worker has no control)	24	74A	(248)
	25. Lighting is adequate for the last. (Monitor if slightly too dars or bright: take action if significantly too dark or bright.)	13	258	25R
i.	25. Temperature is comfortable. (Monitor if slightly too cold or het: raise action if significantly too cold or het.)	(26)	28A	268
	27. Work area is gaiet, (Monitor if slightly too noisy; take action if significantly too noisy.)	27	(50)	279
1	28. Flooring provides good traction. (Munius if Illusting is slightly slightly slightly statentiate if moderately to extremely slippent)	(65)	28A	283
l	 Hommon is sufficiently partied to relieve stress on back and legs. (Monitor if slight stress to back and legs: 'wko option if moderately to extreme stress.) 	29	(De)	298
	30. Root mats are provided. Employee care alternate between sitting and standing. (Monitor 'f employee is standing up to 50% of shift without floor mats or other spess relief for back and legs; take action if standing >50% of shift without floor mats or other relief for back and legs.	30	G	308

Action Plan

Tuday's date: D	ate Solution to be Comple	ted	
Location/Department:			<u> </u>
Job/Task Title:			,
Evaluator:			
Describe MSD in previous 24 months:			
Task:			
Summary of Problem:			
Alternative Solution and Costs:			
Recommended Solution: 1) Engineering	······································		
2) Administrative:			
3) Use of personal protective equipment	t		
Sate Solution Actually Completed:		Actual Cost:	
	GREATAMIRICAN		
her des proven en referención maridad in the tracher or Steed en est-	any magine info positive for allowing too	er the second of size bland. In septime p	gan mgkarantan dawa dawa na kenaman

น้ำ ไม่หม่าไร้รอง สะ conset that we parally intensis an counties due to be over adjusted or that they can be executed. The information is not from the inverse of parallel intensity of fourit doubles and the inverse of parallel intensity of the land to the count of the needs, much and counters of parallel intensity in the land to the count of the intensity of the land to the count of the land to the land tothe land to the

That Avenual and true amplies for converting of the opport on the next extra ity days desired for any enter terms.

* 2011. 2004 Creek Provident Instantic Company, All Optics Secures Chill 900-27, [4/10].
| | Condition | Meal. | Warning | Action |
|-----------|---|-------|------------|--------|
| Rep | efition | | | |
| • | to repetitive hand of ann multions. (common in repetitive cyrin every sul-ou seconds; take action if repetitive cycle of less than 30 seconds.) | 1 | 1.4 | G |
| Pos
2. | ture
Standing, with knees stranglic but not locked. (Monitor if stanting with knees partially bont: sole action If
using a feot pedal or soverting or kneeting more than 3 ho <u>urs/lay.)</u> | 0 | 2A | 28 |
| 3. | Sitting, back and lags comfortably supported. feet flat on floor/floor rest. (Monitor it back participle) supported or feet not. Let on floor, take action it little support for back and lags, feet not couching floor,). | 6) | M | 38 |
| 4. | Head and neck are upright and straight. (Maximum if head and neck are part forward < 20": take action $f > 20$ " >3 hours/day.) | Ø | 4Λ | 4A |
| | Head and neck are bent back. (Monitor if < 10'; take action if =10".) | (1) | 48 | 48 |
| | Head and neck are best sideways. (Monitar ii < 20'; take action it >20') | Ō | 4C | 40 |
| | Head and neck are twist out, (Munitor if < 20°; toke oction if >20°.) | E. | 40 | 4D |
| à., | Hands (palms) are vertical. (Monitor it bands rotate < 20'; take action if rands rotate >24'.) | 5 | 5A | (58) |
| 5. | Wrists are straight. (<i>Munifur</i> if wrists are bent, extension/flowion, < 20° for 5-30 times/minute; take action if ised >20° or >30 times/minute; | 6 | 56 | 6 |
| | Wrists move sideways, ulaar/tad/al. (Honitor if < 20° and 5-30 timus/minute; take action if bent >20° or
>50 times/minute.) | 6 | 6B | 60 |
| rib | ration | 1 100 | | 3 |
| 7. | No tenn or arm vibrasion. (Monitor if occasional: take action if constant.) | Q | 74 | 76 |
| 3. | No whole body vibration. (Monitor if occessional; rake action if constant.) | (9) | 84 | ĸВ |
| tea | çh | | 12740 | |
| I. | Anns yos lioned at elbow level. (Monitor if up to 45' or frequently out of ideal position for more than 4
hours/cay: take action if arms are forward >45' or constantly out of ideal position >3 hours/cay.) | 9 | ς Α | (Th) |
| | Arms back. (Manitor if arms back up to 20' hetween 2-4 times/ moute
for more <u>lean 4 hears/day; tote action</u> if arms back >20' or >4 times/minute for more than 3 hours/day.) | 6 | 5B | 9B |
| | Elbows bent upward. (Monitor if elbows bent up to 25% above or below ideal position >4 hours/day; take
oction if cent upward >25% above or below ideal position >3 hours/day; | g | 90 | 60 |
| | Sibovs away from body. (Monitor it elbows are up to 45' away from tody >4 hours/day; take action if elhows are >45' away from body >3 hours/day;) | g | (9) | 90 |
| IJ. | No Levistinc, reaching or bending, soliting/repetitive. (Monitor if twisting up to 45" or 2-4 simes/minute;
take action if >45" or >4 times/minute.) | 10 | :04 | (TOA) |
| | Reaching/bending forward, (<i>Apprint</i> : # pending/reaching forward up to 45° or 2-4 times/minute or >30° for
>4 hts/day w/out support; take action :f >45° or -4 times/minute or >2 hts/day w/out support.) | เฮ | 138 | (TDB) |
| | Reaching/bending to the side, (Monitor in up to 20° or 2-4 times/infruite: take action if >20° or >4 times (monitor) | 10 | 100 | Ga |
| | (mes/ranuje.) | | 100 | U |
| 11. | Dijects lifter by hand weigh loss than one pound. (<i>Mamitar</i> 11 objects weighing < 1 lb, are lifted up to 20 times/hout;) take action if objects weigh >> 19, or Siting occurs >>20 times/hout.) | :1 | 114 | (-1B) |
| 12. | Objects lifted by the back weigh less than 5 permis. (Monitor if objects weigh 5-25 lbs. or lifting occurs up to 20 tames/hour; take option if objects weigh >25 lbs. or lifting occurs >41 times/hour.) | 12 | 126 | (12B |
| 3. | No pinch grip used. (Nowito: use of ginch grip with < 2 its, of force; late action it pisch grip with >2 lbs, of force; is used.) | 14 | 13A | Gal |
| | Wide pinch grip used. (Monitor If slightly tac wide; take action if extra nety wide.) | 13 | 138 | (13B) |
| iń. | Power grip used with no force. (<i>Monitor</i> if power grip with < 10 lbs. force is used and forearm rotation more is < 5 lbs.) take action if power grip with >10 lbs. force is used and forearm rotation (see is >5 lbs.) | 14 | 144 | G |
| 5 | Feting band coult dis Linder. (Massiter if there is controls: take action if tinger(s) control.) | 6 | 15.4 | 158 |
| б. | Tools or objects have counted, hadded handles. (Monitor if handles are awkward; toke action if there are no bundles on handles overset the force of | 16 | 166 | GER |
| .7. | Gloves do not need to be worn at any time. (<i>Nonitor</i> if gloves are needed but fit well: <i>toke action</i> if gloves | 17 | (Fi) | 170 |
| | to the Add Ballings | | 6 | 1/10 |
| 16. | Constant position, tool or object is hold less than 6 seconds. (Monitor if held between 3-10 seconds: tobe
article if held all seconds.) | 15 | (in) | 16B |
| 9 | Less how 25% of the task it reactifier thinks if 25-50% reactifier take action if \$50% monthing it | 25 | 144 | (198) |
| hes | sure/Contact Stress/Ropeated Impacts | | | 100 |
| 'n | No contact/inipact stress (Monitor filocoasional pressure or body part is used as harmen < 2 hours/day;
take action if <u>constant pressure</u> or body part is used as harmen >2 hours/day.) | 25 | 20A | 200 |

Sur	amary Worksheet Substation B	Date _	11/8/1	<u>z</u>
	Condition	Ideal	Warning Level	Take Action
Lift	ing and Materials Handling			2
23	. No lifting or lowering at materials. (<i>Maniter</i> if occasional and/or no more Ukan 70 times/hour; m/e action is constant and/or greater than 20 times/ <u>hour:</u>	51	2° A	6
22	. No peshing or pulling of materials. (Auplier if pushing/pulling 16-50 carts/shift; <i>take action</i> if pushing/pulling more than 50 carts/shift)	(22A	228
23	Slight targe is required to push or pull materials. (<i>Manilor</i> if moderate force is required; role action if high force is required.)	\odot	23A	24R
Envi	IUNIÄER.			
24	Worker has acequate control over workplace. (Moniform) worker has some control; take action is worker has no control.)	24	24A	Q/18/
25	Lighting is adequate for the task. (Monitor if slightly too dark or bright: toke action if significantly too dark or bright.)	63	25A	25B
26	. Temperature is comfortable. (Monitor if slightly too cold or hot; (one action if significantly too cold or hot.)	20	26A	268
27	. Work area is quiet. (Monitor if slightly too noisy; take action if significantly too noisy.)	27	20	278
28	. Flooring provides good traction. (Manitor & flooring is slightly slippery; fake action & modesately to extremely slippery.)	(28)	28A	288
29	. Rooming 's sufficiently padded to relieve stress on back and logs. (<i>Monitor</i> if Gight stress to back and legs; <i>take</i> action if <u>moderately to extreme stress.)</u>	25	ER:	29B
30.	. Hoor mats any provided, Employee can alternate netweek sitting and standing. (<i>Kanitor</i> if employee is standing up to 30% of shift without hoor mats or other stress (slief for back and legs) take action if standing >50% of shift without floor mats or other relief for back and legs.	30	(30A)	308

Action Plan

Today's date:	Date Solution to be Completed
Location/Department:	
Job/Task Title:	
Evaluator:	
Describe MSD in previous 24 mont	:hs:
Task:	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
Summary of Problem:	
Attenuative Solution and Costs:	
Recommended Solution: 1) Engin	
2) Administrative:	
3) Use of personal protective equi	ipment
Date Solution Actually Completed	: Artual Cost:
	GREATAMERICAN, INSURANCE GREAT
The loss presented hydrocolor (mithfelt in this dirph as is the Corpy case wat was in Child of presented massed or ever th generation — The Yorking of Good Jamikas	τος το φατετός σταστάστες) ποι δεν ζει πέριθλης δυτ δι το σετελνά μιστάτες. Το χανέστο το δι δηθητει να δεναλοπ σει δεν δετα ανήσται το θαι θαριτού διατοπίζες. Το προταξιος 'ε τον βατατό σε το σβαίτε από δυσκατα (ο ανά απόθ ανέχει δα μετάδοτε ταλοπος το δός τους, υπής τον οποδούν ο ανίται διατείο σλούτε επός το εραζίε δυσκάτο.

Been Americanting to a American Enclare Calculation of subscriptions states and a second of Great American Interaction Constants

n 1891, 2012 Sizel Anwern Taxan na Golphap. 40 Authr is thread W2L308-24 (4/44)

			JOI	3 A	NALYSIS	s wof	RKSHEE	T		
DEPARTMEN JOB TITLE ANALYSTS I DATE	NAME	Inish Issem Ray 11/8	0171 5100	Di	v. Unideding		Job DECC Jobst Phase	ation i	4 +.)	
STEP 1. M	leasure	and	reco	ord t	ask variab	195				
Object Weight (B		Hand L	ocatio	n (in)	Vertical Distance (in)	Asymmetric .	Angle (degress)	Frequency Rat	Duration	Object
LAVGILI	(May) M	Ongin		IL U	Distance (m)	A	A	1106/19141 F	(THAS)	C
65.5 6	5.5 16	50	6	44	6	0	0	7	8	Poor
	8	WL =	LC	= HI		DM . A	W. FM »	CM		
DESTINATIO	R' ON R'	WL .	51		3] × [. 15] × [] × [] × [_]•[22]•[<u>.40</u> = [7 _] = [.2 Lbs	
DESTINATION STEP 3. (R' ON R' Comput	WL =	S1 LIF]•[22]•[]•[]•[]•[]•[<u>.10</u> = 7	9.7	

0

Appendix C: The Completed Revised NIOSH Lifting Equation (Substation A & B)

Single Task Job Analysis Worksheet

		J	OE	3 A	NALYSIS	s wof	KOHEE	1		
DEPARTMENT	Fin	ish	ing	D	.v.		JOB DESCI	IPTION	1	
JOB TITLE	Asse	mbl	7.7	ne	Unlocaline	<u>}</u>	Jubst	ation	14	
ANALYST'S NAME	TC	415	ton	<u> </u>		_	Phase	- d (1	Wer)	
	() 	18	112			State of the second				
STEP 1. Measu	re an	nd n	eco	ord t	ask variab	les				
Object	Har	nd Lo	cation	1 (in)	Vertical	Asymmetric	Angle (depres)F	requency Ret	Duration	Ohlect
Weight (lbs)	Origi	in	Dest		Distance (in)	Origin Destination		lita/min	(HRS)	Coupling
L (AVG.) L (Max.)	H	V	H	V	D	A	A	F		C
155150	610	40	11.	10	34	0	0	7	8	Poor
STEP 2. Deter	mine RWL	the	n LC	uitip • Hi	liers and M × VM +	compute DM + AM	the RWL's	e SM		
STEP 2. Deter ORIGIN DESTINATION	mine RWL RWL RWL	/7] the , = [51	uitip • Hi • []	ilers and M * VM . 	compute DM = AM 97] = 7	• the RWL • FM • C • .72 • . • .72 • .	e >M ?⊙ = 4	. 7 Lba	

Single Task Job Analysis Worksheet

		0.000		10	R A	NALVSIS	WOF	KSHE	T		
DEPARTI JOB TITL ANALYST DATE	HENT LE 'S HAME	1 HAN	nishii Serib Noto 181	14	Div	Unloadung		Job Desc Subs Dhase	AIPTION tation - 1 (1: f	B +)	
STEP 1.	Measu	tre s	and a	Iec(ord t	ask variab	les				
Obje	ect	H	land Lo	catio	n (n)	Vertical	Asymmetric /	Angie (degrees)	Frequency Rat	Ouration	Object
Weigh	t (ibe)	Origin Dest			est	Distance (in)	Origin	Destination	lifts/min	(HRS)	Coupling
65.5	65.5	10	53	6	42	9	0	0	7	8	Poor
STEP 2	2. Deter	min	e th	e m	uttio	liers and	compute	the RWL	's		
STEP 2 ORIGIN DESTINA	2. Deter	min RW RW RW	• th 'L = 'L =['L =[6 m LC 51	• uitip • Hi)• [] • []	Hera and (M × VM +) . (33 × (compute DM × AN 78 * 1	• the RWL 4 • FM •] • [22] • [] • [] • []	₩ <u>70</u> = 8	. 2 Lbe	
STEP 2 ORIGIN DESTINA	Tion . Com	rmin RW RW RW	• th 'L = 'L =['L =[the	6 m 51 51	• Hi • Hi • []	Image: Second	Compute DM × AM 78 = 7	• the RWL • FM • • [22] • [- [22] • [22] • [- [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [22] • [5.5	Lba	

Single Task Job Analysis Worksheet

		J	OB	A	VALYSI	S WOR	KSHEE	T		
DEPARTMENT JOB TITLE ANALYST'S NAME DATE	E.mi Ass Ra	shu ent Isto 18/1	9 3 217 2	Div	c. Unload	<u>ლ</u> ე 	JOB DESC Subs Phase	aiption tation 2 (100	B Jer)	
STEP 1. Measu	10 81	id re	acor	d ta	sk variat	les				
Object Weight (bs)	Har	nd Loc	ation ((in)	Vertical Distance (in)	Asymmetric /	Angle (depress)	Frequency Rete	Ouration	Object
L (AVG.) L (Max.)	H	V	H	v V	D	A	A	F	(1113)	C
65.5 65.5	6	42	16/	0	32	Ð	0	7	8	Poor
STEP 2. Deter ORIGIN DESTINATION	mine RWL RWL RWL	the _ = 1 _ = [_ = [mu 51 * 51 *	htipi	liers and * VM . 	compute DM + AN .58 + 7	• the RWL A - FM -] • [.22] - [.] • [] • [.	's CM .90 ≈ 4.	7 Lba Lba	
STEP 3. Comp Origi DESTI	dute 1 In Natic	ihe i N	LIFT LIFTI LIFTI	' INC NG IN NG IN	0 INDEX 0EX =0	BJECT WEIGH RWL BJECT WEIGH RWL		<u>5.5</u> 1.7 — =[13.9	

Single Task Job Analysis Worksheet

Appendix D: The Completed Snook Tables (Substation A & B)

Substation A

Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines

TABLE 2M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LIFTING TASKS ENDING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HE/GHT (≥31" AND ≤67")

	HA DISTA	ND ANCE			7	INCHE	ES			10	INCH	ES			15	INC:H	Ë5	
	FREQU	JENCY	(리는 레이												
0	NE LIFT	TEVE	RY	155	30 5	ौरण	Ģπ	äh	168	30 в	1ш	ðп.	8h	155	30 \$	1m	5m	er.
			30	2	20	40	3-6.	12	64	32	12	-	1.3	27.	13	343	3.6	12
	AA S		20	1	-	-		25	33	-		5	12	12	-		•	21
1 3			10			1.6	21	46				·. ·	30					
1	02		30	: Jo		•. 7 •		. 10					14	120	1			
			10	- <u>C</u> e	S	20	28	52		194 - V	S. 32	13	36		33 A			
1 3			30	<u></u>				21	1.22	- 22	14	12	12	13	5 <u>4</u> 2	- 6 <u>2</u> 9	1.0	- 82 - 2
	GB		20		33	3 8	13	96	1 -	-	3	-	21	- 33	1000	8 .6 81	8. 6 81	- 18 Å
	1		10	X	11	25	32	. 57	j		12	17	42	-			620	13
			30 .					27	-				· 13 ·	13 -			1.4	
	:84 .		20			12	17	. :42	1 (R - 1		. 14		26	100				
			10		15	31	35	63	Sé.	-	17	22	48	· ·			· . · · · ·	17
			30		-		11	33	1 -	100	1	5	1B	•	-	070	•	8
	BD	10000	20			27	23	49	1 -	-	-	17	32	•	-	9 - 93	1. .	
0		5	10	14	20	38	44	58	1		44	28	04		- Los Minarda			23
Ω	70	Ш.	30			. 42	12	- 64	1		45		90	3.7 %				11
I Z	10	馬	10		- 26	145	53	72	1 1	19	90	20	60	1.1		- <u>-</u>		70
12		Se Se	30		42.	16	21	47	1	10	.2.9		34		_		100	
18	72	Ē	20		14	30	36	61	1	1	16	21	47		20	22		1A
14		Ē	10	23	33	52	59	77	11	19	36	42	55				13	36
1-		ច	30	2.3	. 11 .	22	. 25	64.	1	1.4.	·	15	38	1.0			2016	: 11
II	68	Ž	20	· 12 ·	20	37	44	87	1 2 .		. 22	28	54	6.0	12.			23
10	1.00	4	10	30		59	-54	61	8	25	43	50	72		2.5.0%	11	10	44
Ш	6	10	30	12	17	30	ħĒ	91			10	21	47	-	3.93	1. .		1 G
3	(64)	¥	20	18	27	45	57	73	•	14	29	38	61	1.12	19 <u>4</u> 3	1 <u>-</u>	102	30
Ē	~		(10)	(30)	49	65	70	84	23	33	51	57	77	-		20	26	52
10	1.50	Q	30	. 15	25	38	45	¢θ		12	23		55	100				24
μŪ.	60	3	20	25 -	35	54	63	78	13	20	38	44	60	1.5	·		15	39 /
2	<u> </u>	- tr i	10	47	57	72	70	- 67	1 31	42	59	64	63		13	28	-34	- 100
19	1	4	30	26	22	44	34	/4	10	19	32	30	93	0	1903	4.7		4P
~	- 23		10	34	40	77	31	33	20	27	67	0J 71	85	13	20	97	44	67
l a		. 3	20	30	42	57		BD		- 'ak	41 -	2.9	10	- 10		43	17	122
[1 43	3	20	44	FA	- AQ	74		28	. 29	- 66	. 62	- 30		11	- 25	11	57
		. 3	10	64	. 72	82	85	+	60	60	79	12	88	20	29	47	53	74
1			30	43	54	66	71	\$5	31	88	52	58	77	5.5	11	21	27	.53
	45	1	20	54	63	78	30	1	39	49	65	70	84	12	10	3B	42	66
			10	72	78	86	86	+	60	68	20	63	+	30	4D	57	63	00
1	100		S0 -	.57	.64	74	78 .	88	42	-50	62	. 67	-83.	.14	. 19	32	38	63
1	44		20	64	. 72 .	. 82		. + '	51 .	60	74 -	177 :		20	29	4	53	. 74
			10	79	- 84 -	· + ·	+	+	69	76	. 85	67		42	51	67 .	71	: 85
			30	- 55	72	81	34	+	55	61	72	76	87	24	31	44	51	72
	43		50	73	79	87	98	1	82	70	81	64	•	32	42	58	04	81
			10	35	08	+	+	+	77	82	89			54	65		(9	80
			30	.77	. 15	16	89		68 -	- 72 -	290	63		38	- 45. 50	. 20		. 00
	55		10	90	ec :	1	. 1		P/	ня -	.00.			- 90	73	82	. 19 . R6	
			70	34				1	77	940 JI 1	86	20		61	60	70	74	87
3	1 12	3	20	34	4	1	4	6	61	85	-	+	21	81	5.9	79	83	2
	32		to		- I	- F-	-1	4	59	+		+	+	75	62	845	+	
			50	+	+	+	+ -	+	65	88 :	- · ·	·	· +'	80	75	8:	. 64 .	
	28		20		+	+	+	÷	88	+	+			74	70	87		.+
			Hq I	÷	· +	·+	+	·: +	+	+	+	t		185	68	+	+	+ (

+ - GREATER THAN 90% - - LEGG THAN 10%

Substance A

TABLE 2F - FEMALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LIFTING TASKS

ENDING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHT (\geq 28" AND \leq 53")

_	DISTA	NCE			7	INCHE	ES			10	INCH	55	0723		15	INCH	ES	
or	FREQU	ENC'	RY	155	30 s	tm	Sm	ĉh	15s	30 s	187	5m	ßh	155	30 S	1m	Şm.	Øb
			30	1	<u>_</u>	2	-				-	-	-					
1.1	691		20	12	-	4	4	- X (12	÷.	2 . -).	-	-		-	2		-
	V		10	10	-	-					5 - 1		-	-	-			
	100		30	•			12	1.1						-	2	1.	100	s ² .
	56		20	-	-			÷		•	•	-	-	-	-	-	-	1
1.0		2 1	10	-	-			15	1				-				•	
			30		-	-	-	2.2			•		-	-	-	-		
- 3	59		29	-	-	÷.	-	11		8 1	·•3		-	-	-	~		-
- 83			10	-				71								-		
	-		30	-	-			.7	- C.	-	-		1.1	-	8. T	2 T	•	
	50		10		- C	÷.	- C	20			1	1	14		<u> </u>	-	-	-
13			30					12										- 0
	47		26			-	- 0	24					11		-	÷.		- 0
-		-	10	.		2	2	38					21	-	2		2	- ŝ.
8		3	30	-		1		19				-	-			2		
3	44	뿌	20	-				34	5e		1. 	1.500	17	+ 2	+1			S
-		õ	10				15	48			-	-	30				2	-
ō		Ž	30	1.20			-	29			140	546	14			-	- 2	4
ă.	41	-	20		3		'2	44			3 55	100	26		20	# 2	÷:	
-		ш	10	12	2	14	23	58	<u></u>	_ NJ	_ (22) 	245	. 41				<u> </u>	- 22
-		0	30	-			-	40	14		596	2.32	22	-		1.	1 - 1	1.4.4
늤	38	z	20 .		* . · ·	12	21	56			•	•	9B	-	-	•	+ #	1.80
2		2	10	-		23	34	38		-		18	52		- 22	-		17
m		5	30	-	-	-	8	52	•			•	34	-	9 3	1		
s	35	ñ	20		14	22	32	66	1 C	87	12	16	50	-	. 20	5	•	16
-	_	-	10	11	18	35	47	.76		· · ·	18	29	63	-	-	- 70.00	·	28
C		<u>S</u>	30	-		23	30	- 54	-		-	15	48	•			1.5	14
ш	32	1	20	20	25	34	40	16	15	11	18	28	. 02		2			28
m	\vdash	5	10	120	- 30	49	00	76		19	31	94	13	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	· · ·		92
õ	70	-	20	34	30	43	40	10	18	22	31	43	7.0					42
-		-	10	24	45	82	71	20	18	57	45	55	82		- 2	13	27	56
			30	25	33	50	60	34	11	17	32	43	74	-			11	43
	-26		20	50	. 55	B4	73	89	32	36	47	58	83	-		14	23	58
- 3			10	50	60	75	81	*	33	43	-St	70	88	-	12	28	37	70
- 26			30	43	52	69	74	+	20	34	50	61	84	-		16	26	60
	23		20	66	70	77	83	+	51	56	64	73	89	17	21	30	41	73
			10	67	74	84	BB	+	51	61	75	81	+ ;	18	26	44	55	81
- 39			30	62	70	80	85	+	46	-54	68	76	.+	. 14	20	· 35	46	76
- 20	20		20	80	83	87	*	+	69	73	79	84	· + /	37	41	51	,61	. 84
			10	80	85		+	+	69	78	85	89	+	37	47	84	72	89
- ă	S		30	79	84	+	+	+	68	74	63	88	•	35	44	59	38	87
- 9	.4		20	+	*	+		•	83	66	50	+	+	60	04	71	79	+
			10	+	+	+		*	84	68	+	+	+	81	69	50	85	+
			30	+	*	*	*	*	85	68	+	*		83	70	08	35	. *
. 1	74	9	43	1	Ţ.,	1	Ţ.,	1			1	*	1	84	03	81	-	+
			1.5	+						-	+	+		01	03		+	+
		- 23	32		Ţ	2	1	- 2 -	10	5	1	÷.		60	00			-
i i			10		1	-	1	1			+		-	+		+		
		1 2	20	+			÷	÷			+		+	+	÷	+		-
1	8	- 3	21	+	+	+		4		4	+	+	+	+	+	+		+
	~	6	f9	+		+	+	+	4		*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

Substation A

TABLE 11M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR CARRYING TASKS

	CARR	ANCE				FEE	F			1	4 FEE	т			2	8 FEE	T.	
ON	FREQU	ENC)	(ERY	156	30 s	tm	5m	66	15s	30 s	1m	٤m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h
	99		43	1020	40	-0	-8	50	84	3 - 231	42	-	36		S E	192-5		22
			33	. 1929	11	22	36	67	- 82	1928	11	21	54		4	121	15	47
	. 94		43			12	23	56	2 - ⁶	-	1	12	42					28
			33		15	28	42	71	1. ¹ .	12.00	15	27	60	· . ·		11	20	53
	69		43			17	29	62	- a	200	•8	•7	49		2	356	70	34
			33	14	20	35	2 9	75	12	3255	21	34	65	-	15	16	26	59
	85		43			22	35	66	1.4.	al and	11	21	54	1	12	:	· :	40
	1		33	18	25	40	54	78			26	39	70	-	19	20	32	64
	81		43	524	14	27	41	70	34		15	27	60	-		1.	14	46
-		$\widehat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}$	33	23	31	46	59	81	27	13	31	45	73	11	24	25	38	68
ä	77	ŭ	43	13	19	33	47	74	·		20	33	65				19	52
Z		T	33	29	37	52	64	84		17	38	51 ·	77	15	30	31	44	73
ð	73	P	43	18	25	40	53	76	- 64	3 <u>4</u> 33	28	39	69		13	14	25	58
9		(1)	33	35	44	58	69	86	11	23	44	57	80	21	37	38	<u>50</u>	76
F.	60	1	43	24	32	.48	59	. 81	111	13	. 32	- 46	74	-	18.	19	31	63
Ġ		T	33	-42	50	84	74	88	16	29	51	63	83	27	44	45	57	60
Ē	(85)	2	43	31	39	53	65	84		19	40	53	78	: 15	25	26	38	¢9
S	\leq	10	(63)	(4g/	57	69	78	+	(22)	37	58	69	63	34	51	52	63	63
1	61	2	43.	39	47.	60	71	87	13	26	47	60	82	16	32	.34	46	74.
Ш			33	57	64	74	82	· [+]	29	44	64	74	88	42	58	59	69	66
æ	67	A	43	47	55	67	76	89	19	34	55	67	85	23	41	42	54	79
Ö		I	33	64	70	79	65	+	37	52	70	78	÷	56	65	66	74	86
	53		43	. 56	62	73	60	+	27	43	63	73	85	.31	50	51	62	83
			33	70	75	83	ØВ	+	46	60	- 76 -	83	+	56	71	.72	79	· +
	49		43	64	70	78	64	+	37	52	70	78	+	41	5B	59	69	86
			33	76	80	86	+	<u> </u>	55	66	81	63	+	66	77	78	83	+
	45		43.	.75	~ 7¢	.83	88	. †	47	61	76	69	• + :	51	67	. 68	76	89
			33	Bi	65	89	÷	+	64	75	85	'6 0	°.⊊∿-	73	62	B2	-87	+ *
	41		43	78	82	87	÷	+	58	70	62	87	÷	61	74	75	32	:: : +;
			33	86	88	+	٠	+	72	81	86	4	÷	80	86	87	+	+
	36		43	85	87	+	+	.+	70	79	. 88	4	+	73	82	83	87	
			33	+	+	+	¥.	*	81	B7		·	+	86	+ •	+	+	+
	31		43	+	3	*		•	Bt	87	+	+	+	82	89	89	+	+
			33	÷	÷	+	+	•	- 88		+	+	t.	+	+	÷	+	+
							ő.								10 A	1922	· · · · :	20.20

Substation A

TABLE 11E .	. FEMALE POPULATION	PERCENTAGES	FOR CARRYING	TASKS
		I PULL A WHEAT I LEAN PRAN	I VII WHUTTHING	THONY

	DIST/	ANCE			. 1	7 FEET	Г			1	4 FEE	ज्ञ			2	8 FEE	л	
ON		JENC'	í ERY	15s	30 s	tm	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	ðh	15s	30 s	1m	Şm	8h
	73	11	40	1	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i		2/	0	1.		·····	<u>.</u>				···· ···	<u></u>	10 10
		2	31		-			21	I		•		- 18 - 18			•		
	70		40	2	-			-	-						1			
		2.5	31	<u>.</u> .			-	28	i				70			. 4		12
	67		40	-8			-	15	16		8	86	13	800	3-53	395	÷S	÷s
	-	2	31		30			36	-	<u>.</u>	32	12	21	325	848	32 4 33	22	18
	(64)	83	40				5	22	-	6	37.0	e etys	19	Géo	(75)		8.0	1
	\sim		67	\odot				45	\odot		Э.,	_ 34 ³	29	3 - 31				25
	61		40	-			-	3D	1.	22	12	82	27	10.00	- <u>-</u>	124	20	13
5		ô	3:	-	-		-	54	-	8	-	2	38 i	1970	0.00	1353	13	34
ŏ	58	Ш	40	1.5	.5.	²²	. 2	40	-		200800 2	999-92-09 5 -	36	1.1		1000	5	20
z,		Ľ	31				11	63				-	47				7.8	43
õ	55	N	40	-	20		20	50	-	2	÷	8 0	46	3 6 31	3 6 31	1993	19 9 6	29
9		(II)	3:	2	-	14	10	71		· · .		8	57		-		22	54
F	52	E	40	-	. •		3.5	60		a. 7			. 57.			100	·	-39
ΰ	1998	Ĩ	31	-	14	22	27	79	-		11	14	87	12	1.0	1221	12	63
Ū	40	2	40	-	5	13	17	70		15	11	14	67	1572		157	150	51
3	<u>i</u> 1	<u>ш</u>	31	18	22	33	39	85	18	-	18	23	75	8 .0 81	15	15	20	73
5	46	0	40	-	. 15	22	27	78	-		19	: 24 .	.78	623	<u>.</u>		11	. 62
Щ	() 	Z	31	28	34	45	51	89	<u> </u>		29	34	32	12	25	25	30	60
a'	43	4	40	17	23	34	40	85		9	31	36	83	37 <u>7</u> 55	-5	15	20	73
0		I	31	41	47	58	\$ 3	+		13	42	47	85	22	37	37	43	86
	40		40.	29	36	48	54	+	1 -	15	44	50	80	18	: 27	- 27	32	. 85
	1.121 122		31	55	60	70	74	+ .	ļ	23	55	81	+	35	51	5	57	*
	37		40	44	51	62	67	+	17	27	59	84	÷	31	41	41	47	68
			31	68	72	60	53	+	19	38	69	73	. . .	30	65	65	70	+
	34		40	60	66	75	79	+	23	43	72	:76	.+ .	47	57	57	63	.+.
			35	76	82	87	89	+	34	54	60	83	۴ .	65	77	77	61	*
	31		40	74	79	85	B7	+	40	60	83	66	•	64	72	72	78	+
			31	58	+	+	•		51	70	88	+	+	7 .	46	88	88	4
	28 .		40	85	88	÷	+	÷	SR	76	÷	+.	+ .	78	84	84	86	+
			31	+	+	÷	+	+	69	62	+	+	+	87	+	+	+	+
	25		40	+	÷	÷	+	1	77	87	(*	.+	St.	88	(†)	a t ⊗	*	+
			31	+	+	+	+	÷	83	+	÷	+	+	4	+	+	+	+

Substation A

TABLE 5M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LOWERING TAS	KS
BEGINNING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHT (≥3?" AND ≤57")	

	HA DISTA	ND ANCE			7	INCHE	ES_			10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	EŜ	
ON	FREQU	ÆNCY Er ev	ERY	156	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	3C s	im	5m	8h	155	.30 s	1m	5m	8b
			30	15	† 7	20	36	62	3			22	49	8	12	88	363	20
	76		20	21	25	33	51	73	27	13	19	36	62 76	1 12	02	12	27	34 54
			30	19	21	24	41					28	. 54		10.1	14		25
	72		-20	28	30	38	-55	. 76	14	17	24	· 41	66				. 14	39
	i. i	, ž	10	46	50	58	71	85	32	35	. 44	60	78		11	16	31	58
		1 8	30	24	25	29	47	70	12	13	16	32	59		1	-	-	30
	69		20	3	35	44	60	79	18	21	29	40	70	40		20	18	44
	12.3	0	1302	Gal	31	. 36	62	74	40)	17 .	21	37	65	12	14	20	. +1	35
	(66)	111	20	36	.41	49	64	81	122	25	34	51	73				22	50
	0	E.	10	56	60	67	78	89	42	47	54	69	84	15	18	: 25	42	67
		\underline{O}	30	34	36	41	57	77	21	22	26	43	66		2	đ.,	15	41
-	63		20	42	47	55	69	54	28	32	40	37	11		-	13	28	55
Ś			10	45	43	27	67	.00	40	26	. 32	20	72	201	2.5	34	20	
9	60	- 24	20	48	52	60		88 .	34	39	48	62	80	1.2.3	12	18	34.	60
5		4	10	68	69	75	63	+	54	53	- 64	76	85	25	29	37	54	75
ō		2	30	47	49	53	67	33	32	34	30	55	76	1	12	12	26	53
0_	57		20	54	56	65	76	88	40	44	52	67	83	14	17	23	40	65
-		(V)	10	71	73	78	86	+	59	63	68	79	86	32	35	43	58	78
T	54	õ	20	80	. 30 AA	. 90 . .70 .	. 12		47		58	71	та Я4	13	. 99	. 29	. 47	
C		115	10	75	77	61	88	14	65	63	74	82	· + ·	38	42	50	65	82
<u>u</u>		9	30	60	61	65	76	38	46	48	52	66	82	18	20	22	39	65
3	51	-	20	66	69	74	83	+	53	57	64	7B	88	25	29	36	53	76
		Ľ.	10	79	81	64	+	+	70	73	78	B5	+	45	49	56	70	84
0		Щ.	30	-06		70	80	11	53	05	-98	90	95	20	20	44	4/ 20	- :fQ -70
141	40	2	10	82	84	87	+	+	75	77	81	86	· + ·	53	56	63	75	87
ΩÓ.		0,	30	71	73	75	83	+	60	62	65	78	88	32	34	37	54	75
0	45	_	20	76	7B	62	98	+	67	70	75	83	+	40	44	52	60	82
		. 1	10	85	87	89	4	. +	.79		84	+	+	60	63	69	79	80
		(3	- 30	76 :	78	20	87	1 . †.0	67	68	71	B1	* <u>*</u> .	41	43	46.	62	80
	92	3	10	89	.94	 . +	· +	+	83	95	57	+	.T 4	440 . 187	- 53 - 699	74	83	+
		1	30	81	92	84	89	3. 4 .8	73	74	77	85	+	50	52	55	69	84
	39		20	84	85	86	+	+	78	80	83	89	+	57	61	67	78	88
			10	+	+	+	+	+	86	86	+	÷	+	73	75	79	86	+
		1	30	85	. 83	87	· +. `	· :† :	.79	80	22	88	+	50	61	. 63	75 .	67
5	35		10	-	- E U	10	··]	1	82	04 . 4	. to		. <u>1</u> .1	- 00 - 78	80	94	30	
			30	88	89	+	+	+	84	84	88	+	+	68	69	71	86	+
	33		20	+	+	+	+	+	86	88	+	+	+ '	73	75	79	86	
			10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	. 83	85	87	+	÷
			30	;+	+	4 .'	• ••	. + ·	58	:60	89	. + . ·		75	78 .	-:78 -	65	÷
	30	6 8	2D .	+	+	+	• 🕇	· •	+	4 4	+	- +		-60 -	.81	.84	· +	· + · ·
	\vdash		1910	+		+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	82	83	84	89	-
	27		20	1.5	*	+	+	+	i +	+	÷	+	+	85	86	69	+	+
	998		10	+	v	2 70 3	+	+	+	+	8 1 5 - 5			+	_ +	+	*	
	1. · ·		30	· + .	. + .	÷	.4	+	+	. .	(. †	+	+ ;	· 87 ·	: 88	69	· + .	. + .
	24		20	.+ .	. + .	· +	+ 1	. +	+	+	. + .	+ '	+	89 .	· +.,	. +	· .:+ .	: <u>*</u> .,
	81.78	i 3	10	*	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	· +.	+	+ ·	+ .	+	+	<u> </u>

Substation A

TABLE 5F - FEMALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LOWERING TASKS

BEGINNING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHTS (228" AND \$53")

	HA	ANCE			7	INCHE	ŝ			10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	ES	
	FREQ	UENC	-	159	30 ¢		Am	ßh	the	20 c	1m	Sm	SP	154	30.6	500	505	đb.
UN	LOW	EREV	Con	100			-	25	100					100	000			
	651)		20	14				43	1	-	-	÷.	23					
	10		10			-	21	66		-	-	-	38		-			- 2
	4	1 1	30	· ·				35			-		17					
	48		20	-	**	+::	17	53			34		33	-			. 1	1
			FO			-	30	67			- 23	14	49			2		12
		1	30	-	-	-	12	46		S. • 2		-	28	•	-			
	45		20	0.00			26	65			•		44		-			
		10	10	-		11	41	75	-	-		22	59	-	-			20
		07	,30			-	17	54	•	-	-	• -	33	•	. •			
	42	1	20				33	60	1.00			15	51	27.5		-	-	14
		T	ŧЛ	12		15	49	79			<u> </u>	29	65			-	2	27
	1	0	30	(a)	-	-	24	61			-	-	41		-		-	-
	41	2	20	0.00			41	75	1.00		50	22	59	1.00	1.0	1 2		20
in		-	10	<u> </u>	-	22	57	83	121	-	-	37	72	-	-	- <u>-</u>		35
õ		ш	30		·	• •	32	68		*	÷ .	14	50	-			÷	13
	35 .	0	20	0.000	\$1	16	49	80	2 - 28	•SI		28	66	1.00	0.00	*	1	27
5		¥	10		14	29	84	87	1.	-	19	45	77					43
ō			30		-	-	40	74	-	-	4	21	58			- X.	-	20
ā.	37	2	20	14	16	23	58	84	1. A .		-12	38	72	22				36
-		10	10	14	21	38	71	+			19	54	82		1.1		18	52
E		-	30 -	-	1.1	10	50	80	1.14			30	. 66	(a)	1.0	4	174	28
Ŧ	35		20	21	24	31	. 60	85	1 .	(1 - 1)	14	47	78			1.1	11	-45
Q		10	10	21	30	47	77	+	4	13	27	62	66	-			23	61
ш		2	30	-	13	24	50	85	-	14	-	39	74			-	-	37
2	33	4	20	29	33	41	73	+	13	16	22	57	83			8.1	18	55
-		R	10	30	39	57	82	+	13	21	37	70	89	-			33	89
5		IL	30	14	20	-34	68	89		-	16	ĐU	80			1-	13	. 48
Ň	31 -	5	20	40	44	-52	80	+	21	24	31	66	80 .				27	64
-5		2	10	10	50	86	87	+	21	30	47	77	+	-		:2	43	76
8		0	30	23	30	45	78	+	1.	14	25	60	85		-		22	59
0	29	_	20	51	55	82	65	+	31	35	43	74	+	200		÷2	38	73
			10	51	60	74	+	+	32	41	58	83	+	-		20	54	82
	5 B.		30	34 .	42	57	82	+	16	23	37	70	69				.83	: 69
	27		20	82	65	71	- 89	+	43	47	54 -	81	+	1.00	12	118	50	80
	1		10	62	70	81	+	+	44	53	68	88	÷		16	30	65	87
	S	8 1	30	47	55	68	68	+	27	35	50	79	÷	÷.		:3	46	77
	25		20	72	75	80	+	+	56	59	66	87	+	18	21	27	62	86
		Į I	10	72	79	87	+	+	58	65	77	+	+	19	27	43	74	+
	S. 18	8 1	30	60	:67	.77	+	+	41	49	.63	85	·. +	-	13	24	59	86
	23		20	81	83	86	+	+	88	71	78	• *+		31	34	41	73	· .
- 3			10	61	86	+	+	+	68	75	84	+	+	31	40	57	B2	+ .:
		8 - 1	30	72	78	85	+	+	56	63	74	+	+	19	25	39	71	+
	21		20	87	89	+	+	+	78	80	84	+	*	46	50	56	82	+
1	and the second	ŝ.,	10	68	+	+	+	+	78	83	+	+	+	46	55	70	89	+
1		2 1	30	86	-89	+	.+	+	76	81	· 87	+ -		43	50	63	86	· +
1	18		20	+	+	+	+		69	+	+	+		69	72	76	+	+
			10	+	+	+	+	+	60		÷	+	÷	70	78	85		+
			30	+	+	+	+	+	+	4		+	+	70	76	83	+	+
3	15		20		+	4	+	+	E.	+	+	+	+	88	68		+	+
1		5 J	10	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	87	+		*	+
1			30	+	+	+.	+	+	+	4	+	+	+	29		+	+	+ .
	12		20	+	+	+	+	+	+		+	+	+	+	+		•	+
		i	10	1	r	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

+ = GREATER THAN 90%

- = LESS THAN 10%

Substation B

Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines

TABLE 2M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LIFTING TASKS

ENDING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHT (231" AND 557")

	HAND DISTANCE FREQUENCY				7	INCHE	ES			10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	ES	
0			r RY	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	tm	5m	8h
			30			-	-	12	-			-		-	-	-		
	96		20	- 1	-	-	-	25	-				12	- 1	-	-	-	-
			10			16	21	46	-	-	-	· · · · ·	30	- 1	2	<u> </u>		
			30	-	· -	-		16	Ι	-	•			- A 1		1 - 1	· ·	1. 1 . 1
	92		20	- · ·	1 .	-		30			. .		16		ss⊑ "	30	•	
	1.11		10	-	-	20	26	52	-	-	-	13	36	-		-		
			30	-	-	-	-	21	-	-	-	-		-	•		-	-
	88		20	-			13	36	-	1 .	-		21	-				
			10		11	25	32	57	-	-	12	17	42		-	-		13
			30				1	27			<u>_</u>		13	- ⁻	in George	1		
	84		20	-		12	17	42	-		-		26	-	-	• •	-	
			10	-	15	31	38	63	<u> </u>		17	22	48	<u> </u>			-	17
			30	-	-		11	33	-	-	-		18	-	-	•	-	-
	80	-	20	1	-	17	23	49		2 4 0	-	11	32	-	-	-	24	-
S		S	10	12	20	38	44	08	<u> </u>	·····		20	04		.		•	
	70	ш	30	1		11	10	40	-	-	-	-	24	-	1.1	÷.	- - -	
Z	10	T	20	17	26	23	29	55	-	12	20	10	60		1 1 7 8 8			20
N		S	20	17	20	40	24	12			23	- 30	21	<u> </u>	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~			2.5
Q	70		20	•	14	30	36	-47 61			16	21	47		- 2	-	-	16
E	12	III.	10	22	23	52	58	77	11	10	36	42	66			_	13	36
-	1.1.1	Ö	30		11	22	28	54	<u></u>	- 19		15	90					11
I	68	ž	20	12	20	37	44	67		- 2 · *	22	28	54					23
U		A	10	30	41	59	64	81	16	25	43	50	72	1 .		14	19	44
ω		F	30	12	17	30	36	61			16	21	47	-	72		-	16
S	64	2	20	18	27	45	52	73	_	14	29	36	61	-		-	-	30
		0	60	(38)	49	65	70	84	23	33	51	57	77	-	-	20	26	52
1	1.1.1.1	C	30	18	25	38	45	68	-	12	23	29	55	1 m 1	199		-	24
I M	60	Ž	20	25	35	54	60	78	13	20	38	44	68		N. -		15	39
5			10	47	57	72	76	87	31	42	59	64	81	-	13	28	34	60
8		Ľ,	30	26	33	48	54	74	13	19	32	38	63	-	-	-	•	32
0	56		20	34	45	62	67	83	20	29	47	53	74	~	-	17	22	48
		i	10	56	65	77	81	+	41	51	67	71	85	13	20	37	44	67
	1.199.20		30	36	43	57	63	80	21	28	41	48	70			13	17	42
1	52		20	44	54	69	74	86	28	39	56	62	80		11	25	31	57
			10	64	72	82	85	+	50	60	73		88	20	29	47	53	74
			30	46	54	66	71	85	31	38	52	58	77	-	11	21	27	53
	48		20	54	63	76	80	+	39	49	65	70	84	12	19	36	42	66
			10	72	78	86	88		80	68	80	83	+	30	40	57	63	80
	i And		30	57	64	74	78	88	42	50	62	67	83	14	19	32	38	63
	44		20	64	72	82	85	+	51	60	74	11	88	20	29	47	53	(4
			10	79	84	+	+	+	69	/6	85	8/	+	42	51	67	/1	85
			30	68	73	81	84	+	55	61	12	76	18	24	31	44	51	12
	40		20	/3	/9	87	89	+	62	/0	81	84	+	32	42	29	70	01
			10	60	00	+	+ 00		11	70	89	÷ 00	+	20	03	13	19	09
	20		30	01	01	.0/	08		70	70	80	. 03		30	40	70	74	87
	30	14	10	80	4	-	- -	-	84	88	+	- 00	+	66	73	82	85	+
			20	00	97				77	81	88	88		53	60	70	74	87
	32		20	87	+	-	- -	4	81	85	4	+	+	61	69	70	83	+
	02		10	4	÷	+	+	+	AQ	+	+	÷	+	76	82	88	+	+
	<u> </u>		30	<u> </u>		+	+	+	85	88	+	+	+	68	73	81	84	. 4
	28		20	\ <u>+</u>	+	+	+	+	88	+	+	+	4	74	79	87	89	+
			10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	85	88	+	+	+

+ = GREATER THAN 90%

- = LESS THAN 10%

TABLE 2F - FEMALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LIFTING TASKS

ENDING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHT (≥28" AND ≤ 53")

	HA DIST/	ND ANCE			7	INCHE	ES			10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	ES	
0		JENC	(RY	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	155	30 s	1m	5m	8h
			30	-	-	-	-	17	-	-		-	-	-	-			
	(59)		20	-	•		-	-	1	-	-	-		-	-	-	-	
ł			(10)	0	· · ·			-	<u> </u>				-	-	-	-		
	58		30				.		139					1.73		•		
	50		10	1.0	gastre:			15		-				1.25				
			30		121			-	-	12	2	-	-	-	-	4	-	-
	53		20	18	-	-	•	11	14		÷.	1	4	•			•	
			10	-	-	-		21	-	-				<u> </u>	-		-	
	50		30						1 े े								•	
	00		10					20					14		•		t St	
1			30	-	•	-	-	12		-	-		-	-		-	-	-
	47		20	-	-	-	14	24	-	-	2	ž	11		-	-	-	327
S		(c)	10	-	-	-	-	38	-	-	-		21	-	-	-	-	-
Ö		Ŭ.	30					19										
Z	44	Ţ	20		19 - 1	n fritten		34		in The C			17					
2		Ş	30	<u> </u>	_		10	29		-	-	-	14			*		
L C	41	-	20	2350	-	-	12	44			-	-	26		-	=	-	
		ш	10	_	-	14	23	58	-	•	-		41	-	-	-	-	•
		Q	30		•		•	40	19 A. 1				22	1.	20-00	-	•	
n	38	4	20			12	21	56	1.20				38					
Ĭ		Ĥ	10		-	23	18	68		-		18	52	-				1/
Z	35	S	20	-	- 14	22	32	66				16	50	2	ĩ	2	-	16
		Δ	10	11	18	35	47	76	-	-	18	29	63	-	-	-	-	28
5		G	30	1.	<u></u>	20	30	64	- 1-03		-	15	48		(d .)	÷		14
Ш	32	2	20	20	25	34	46	76	 	11	18	28	62			-		28
3	2012/02	L.	10	20	30	49	60	83	-	14	31	42	73			-	11	42
Ö	29		20	34	39	40	40 60	70 83	18	22	31	43	74		-	-	11	42
			10	34	45	62	71	89	18	27	45	56	82		-	13	22	56
ļ			30	25	33	50	60	84	11	17	32	43	74	-		-	11	43
	26		20	50	55	64	73	89	32	38	47	58	83			14	23	58
	1000		10	50	60	75	81	+	33	43	61	70	88		12	26	37	70
[23		20	43	52 70	77	83	÷.	51	34 56	50 64	73	84	17	21	10 30	20 41	73
			10	67	74	84	88	+	51	61	75	81	+	18	26	44	55	81
ļ.	1.4.91		30	62	70	80	85	14 A	46	54	68	76	- + -	14	20	35	46	76
	20		20	80	83	87	÷	+	69	73	79	84	+	37	41	51	61	84
			10	80	85	+	+	+	69	76	85	89		37	47	64	72	89
	17		30	79	84	+	+	+	68 62	74	83	88	<u>+</u>	35	44	59	68	87
			10	4	+	+	+	+	84	88	4	т +	+	61	69	80	85	+
	No.		30	+	+	+	10 1	+	85	88	+	+	+	63	70	80	85	+
	14		20		•	+	•	: +]	+	(4 . 6.	+	+	+	80	83	87	+	+
	1000		10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+ \	81	85	+	+	+
			30	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	85	88	+	+	+
	11		20	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	*	+	+++
	100	1	30	+	+	+		4	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+
	8		20	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	4	+	+	+
			10	+	+	+	+	· +	+	+	4	+	••••• +	+	+	· + ·	+	+

Substation B

Liberty Mutual Manual Materials Handling Guidelines

TABLE 11M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR CARRYING TASKS

	CARRYING DISTANCE FREQUENCY ONE CARRY EVERY				ī	FEE	-			1	4 FEE	T			2	8 FEE	т	
ON	FREQL E CARF	JENCY RY EV	, ERY	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h
	99		43	.+.	1. .	-	18	50	1_	. 	13 7 5	-	36	-		æ	-	22
			33	-	11	22	36	67	-	-	11	21	54	-	-	-	15	47
	94		43			12	23	56	-		-	12	42	1. 1. 1. 1 . 1. 1.				28
			33		15	28	42	71	-	-	15	27	60	1		11	20	53
	89		43	-	-	17	29	62	-	-	-	17	49	-	-	-	-	34
			33	14	20	35	49	75	-		21	34	65	-	15	16	26	59
	85		43	स् इन्द्र म	18 (a. s.	22	35	66	-	÷.	11	21	54	1	10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10			40
	2.3		33	18	25	40	54	78	-	-	26	39	70	2 1 1	19	20	32	64
	81	8	43	÷	14	27	41	70	-	-	15	27	60	-	-	-	14	46
10		6	33	23	31	46	59	81	_	13	31	45	73	11	24	25	38	68
â	77	Ш́	43	13	19	33	47	74	- 1	-	20	33	65	-	63333. 11 7 1	-	19	52
K		Ţ	33	29	37	52	64	84	-	17	38	51	77	15	30	31	44	73
ð	73	NO	43	18	25	40	53	78	-	÷	26	39	69	-	13	14	25	58
đ			33	35	44	58	69	86	11	23	44	57	80	21	37	38	50	76
E	69	H	43	24	32	46	59	81	-	13	32	46	74	-	18	19	31	63
5		Ţ	33	42	50	64	74	88	16	29	51	63	83	27	44	45	57	80
Ē	(65)		43	31	39	53	65	84		19	40	53	78	-	25	26	38	69
S			(33)	(49)	57	69	78	+	(22)	37	58	69	86	34	51	52	63	83
5	61		43	39	47	60	71	87	13	26	47	60	82	16	32	34	46	74
ШЩ	and a set	Z	33	57	64	74	82	+	29	44	64	74	88	42	58	59	69	86
	57	A	43	47	55	67	76	89	19	34	55	67	85	23	41	42	54	79
0		T.	33	64	70	79	85	+	37	52	70	78	+	50	65	66	74	88
	53		43	56	62	73	80	+	27	43	63	73	88	31	50	51	62	83
			33	70	75	83	88	+	46	60	76	83	+	58	71	72	79	+
	49	6 6	43	64	70	78	84	+	37	52	70	78	+	41	58	59	69	86
		0	33	76	80	86	+	+	55	68	81	86	+	66	77	78	83	+
	45		43	71	76	83	88	+	47	61	76	83	+	51	67	68	76	89
			33	81	85	89	+	+	64	75	85	89	+	73	82	82	87	+
	41	17	43	78	82	87	+	+	58	70	82	87	+	61	74	75	82	+
			33	86	88	+	+	+	72	81	88	+	+	80	86	87	+	+
	36		43	85	87	+	+	+	70	79	88	+	+	73	82	83	87	+
l			33	+	+	+	+	+	81	87	+	+	4 ⁽¹⁾	86	+	+	4	+
	31		43	+	+	+	+	+	81	87	+	+	+	82	89	89	+	+
]			33	+	+	+	+	+	88	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

TABLE 11F - FEMALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR CARRYING TASKS

	CARR DIST/	YING				7 FEE	г			1	4 FEE	T			2	8 FEE	т	
ON	FREQL E CARF	JENC) RY EVI	(ERY	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h	15s	30 s	1m	5m	8h
	73		40	-	-	~	-	-	-	-	÷	÷	-	-	12	-	2	2
			31		. . .	· · ·		21	-	-		ч	ца; 1	-	z		-	-
	70		40 31		•		•	- 28		-		•	70	•	•	•		- 12
	67		40	-	-	-	-	15	-				13	-	-	-	-	-
			31	-	-	-		36	-	-	-	-	21	-		-	-	18
	(64)		40					22				- -	19			-		
	\sim		(\$1)	0	•	da gara	38.94	45	0				29					25
	61		40	-	÷	-	-	30		-	÷	12 12	27	-	-	-	-	13
		ô	31	-	•	-	-	54	-			•	38	-	-		-	34
lő	58	Ш	40			ung tung. Ng ti n g tu	eliantan Ang t ag	40	-	atara Si t ak			36		a del 14. Novi Novi			20
Z		Ţ,	31				11	63	_				47	ित्यू हे				43
õ	55	Š	40	ē	1000 k	-	×.	50	i. 	÷.	÷	-	46		-	-	-	29
e			31	-	-	14	18	71	-	-	121	828	57	3 2 0	-	<u>140</u>	121	54
	52	ł	40		•	•		60		•			57			-		39
T WEIGHT	0.30	-	31	N <u>j</u> da	14	22	27	79		n gan	11	14	67				12	63
	49	S	40	-	-	13	17	70	-	-	11	14	67	-	-	-	-	51
		뿌	31	18	22	33	39	85	-	-	18	23	75	-	15	15	20	73
5	46	0	40		13	22	27	78	-		19	24	76	-			11	62
Ш		Z	31	28	34	45	51	89			29	34	82	12	25	25	30	80
ш	43	4	40	17	23	34	40	85	-	~	31	36	83	-	15	15	20	73
0		I	31	41	47	58	63	+	-	13	42	47	88	22	37	37	43	86
	40		40	29	36	48	54	+		15	44	50	89	18	27	27	32	81
	NAN SAL		31	55	60	70	74	+	-	23	55	61	+	35	51	51	57	+
	37		40	44	51	62	67	+	11	27	59	64	+	31	41	41	47	88
			31	68	72	80	83	+	19	38	69	73	+	50	65	65	70	+
	34		40	60	66	75	79	+	23	43	72	76	+	47	57	57	63	+
	14933		31	79	82	87	89	+	34	54	80	83	+	65	77	77	81	ंभव
	31		40	74	79	85	87	+	40	60	83	86	+	64	72	72	76	+
			31	88	+	+	+	+	51	70	88	+	+	78	86	86	88	+
	28		40	85	88	+	•	+	59	76	+	+	+	78	84	84	86	+
			31	+	+ 1	+	+	+	69	82	<u></u> >>	+	+	87	+	+	+	+
	25		40	+	+	+	+	+	77	87	+	+	+	88	+	+	+	+
			31	+	+	+	+	+	83	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+

Substation B

TABLE 5M - MALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LOWERING TASKS BEGINNING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHT (≥31" AND ≤57")

[2												
	DISTA	NCE			7	INCHE	ES	3		10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	ES	
	FREQL	JENCY				2:05				~~	4.000	-	~					
ONE	LOW	EREV	ERY	158	30 s	1m	5m	8n	155	30 S	1m	5m	8n	155	30 5	TM	5M	80
			30	15	17	20	36	62	3	-	-	22	49	8	÷	-	•	20
	15		20	21	25	33	51	73	27	13	19	30	62 76			12	- 27	34 54
			30	10	21	24	 	68	21		12	26	- 10 - 54	<u> </u>			<u> </u>	25
	72		20	26	30	38	55	76	14	17	24	41	66				14	39
1	3.75		10	46	50	58	71	85	32	36	44	60	79	-	11	16	31	58
			30	24	25	29	47	70	12	13	16	32	59	-	-	•		30
	69		20	31	35	44	60	79	18	21	29	46	70	12 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 10 1		1 2 57555	18	44
		6	10	51	55	63	75	87	37	41	49	64	81	12	14	20	37	63
	(Tex)	Ш.	(30)	(29)	31	35	52	74	16	17	-21	37	. 63	-	8 a - a		11	35
	66	T	20	36	41 60	49 67	04 78	81	42	20	34 54	51	73 84	- 16	- 18	- 25	42	67
		Ū	30	34	36	41	57	77	21	22	26	43	68		-	-	15	41
	63	Ž	20	42	47	55	69	84	28	32	40	57	77	-	-	13	28	55
in			10	61	65	71	81	+	48	52	59	72	86	20	23	31	48	71
lő	s. 1. s	ш	30	40	43	47	62	80	26	28	32	49	72			6 G	20	47
2	60	Ū	20	48	52	60	73	86	34	38	46	62	80	-	12	18	34	60
) D		Z	10	68	69	75	83	+	54	58	64	76	88	25	29	37	54	75
Q		4	30	47	49	53	67 76	83	32	34	38	55	76	14	17	12	26	53
<u>م</u>	57	F	20	04 71	20	78	70 86	+	40 50	44 63	02 60	70	80	32	35	43	40 50	78
-		S	30	53	55	59	72	85	39	41	45	61	79	13	14	16	32	59
I	54	Δ	20	60	64	70	80	+	47	51	58	71	85	19	22	29	47	70
U U	20.00	/ B	10	75	77	81	88	÷	65	68	74	82	+	38	42	50	65	82
μ			30	60	61	65	76	88	46	48	52	66	82	18	20	22	39	65
3	51		20	66	69	74	83	+	53	57	64	76	88	25	29	36	53	75
and the second		Ľ	10	79	81	84	+	+	70	73	78	85	+	45	49	56	70	84
U		LU L	30	66	67	70	80	+	53	55	58	12	85	25	26	29	4/	70
Ш	48	S	10	82	74 84	87	400	+	75	77	81	88		53	56	63	75	87
m		0	30	71	73	75	83	+	60	62	65	76	88	32	34	37	54	75
O	45		20	76	78	82	88	+	67	70	75	83	+	40	44	52	66	82
0.000			10	85	87	89	+	+	79	81	84	+	+	60	63	69	79	89
			30	76	78	BO	87	÷	67	68	71	81	+	41	43	46	62	80
1	42		20	80	82	86	÷	+	72	75	79	86	+	49	53	59	72	86
			10	88	89	+	+	+	83	85	87	+	+	67	69	14	83	+
	20		30	81	82	88	89	+	73	74	83	80	+	50	5∉ 61	67	78	88
	38		10	04 +	4	+	+	+	86	88	+	4	4	73	75	79	86	+
	1.84		30	85	86	87	+	.+	79	80	62	68	+	59	61	63	75	87
	36		20	88	89	+	. +	+	82	84	87	+	+	65	68	73	82	+
			10	+	+	+	+	+	89	+	÷	+	+	78	80	84	89	+
1			30	88	89	+	+	+	84	84	86	+	+	68	69	71	81	+
	33		20	+	+	+	×	+	86	88	+	+	+	73	75	79	86	+
			10	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	83	85	87	+	+
	20		30	+		*	+ -	· +	88	88	69	1	- T	10	91	10	400	- T
	30		10	- T	*	+	+	+	4	+	+	+	+	87	89	+	+	+
			30	, +	i +			+	+	+	+	+	+	82	83	84	89	+
	27		20	+	÷	+	4	-{-	4	+	÷	+	f	85	86	89	+	+
	201204		10	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	÷	+	+	+	+	+
l			30	+	+	+	+	4	+	*	+	+	. +	87	88	89	+	+
	24		20	÷	+	t	+	+	+	+	+	+	+	89	. +	+	÷	+ .
L	L		10	<u>+</u>	+	+	+	+	<u> + </u>	+	+	+	+	<u>+</u>	+	+	+	+

86

Substation B

TABLE 5F - FEMALE POPULATION PERCENTAGES FOR LOWERING TASKS BEGINNING BETWEEN KNUCKLE AND SHOULDER HEIGHTS (>28" AND <53")</td>

BEGINNING BEIWEEN KNOCKLE AND SHOOLDER HEIGHIS (220 AND 203)

	HAND DISTANCE FREQUENCY				7	INCHI	ES			10	INCH	ES			15	INCH	ES	
	FREQU			155	30 s	1m	5m	8h	155	30 s	1m	5m	8h	155	30 s	1m	5m	ßh
UN			1/Gn	0				25	6									U11
	(5)		20	0	-	100 100	250 (#3	43	C	-			23		-	-	-	2
24	0		10	-	-	-	21	58	-	_			38	-	-	<u>_</u>	<u>~</u>	2
			30	1 A. 1				35		1. - 11		•	17	-		197 - 34	1912	-
	48		20	199-00			17	53					33	-				•
	1.000		10	<u> </u>		(*)	30	67	<u> - </u>	<u> </u>	*	14	49					12
			30	<u></u>	2 2 0	7426	12	46		2	12	2	26	323	822	-		-
	45	-	20	-	-	-	26	63	-	•	•	-	44	5		₹0	20	-
	The second	ິດ	10		• (1) (1)	11	41	75	1			- 44	59	-	-	• 	• •	20
	43	ŬÚ	20	1 2 4		신문	47	69	134	124		146	50		a Sir		h Shi	14
	100	I	10			15	49	79		-		29	65	100760 	신간	191		27
		0	30	-	-	-	24	61	-	0.0	÷		41		·=:	•	-	-
	41	Z	20	-	-	1411	41	75	5 8 <u>-</u> 9	-	2	22	59	523	3 - 24	12	2	20
6			10	-	E	22	57	83	-	-	ų.	37	72	<u>s</u> .	-	-	-	35
Ő		Ш	30				32	68	See. 1	1.		14	50	10 - 11				13
Z	39	O	20	1.1	11	16	49	80	03 7 "V	ୁ କୁଦ୍ର ପ	anne in	29	66	. • •	•		623.8	27
D.		2	10		14	- 29	64	87			13	45	77	<u> </u>		-		43
Õ	27	\triangleleft	30	14	10		40	14	-	1000	2	21	28		1.00	3 	3. .	20
L.	31	H	10	14	21	23	71	4		-	10	54	82		-	-	16	52
}	1.1.1.1.1	က္ဆ	30			16	50	80		<u>a (</u>	1000.00	30	66					28
I	35	Ω	20	21	24	31	66	88	1.200		14	47	78	1 42 6			11	45
Q		ŕħ	10	21	30	47	77	4		13	27	62	86	1993	a d <u>i</u> ka	N. A. B.	23	61
μ		S	30	-	13	24	59	85	Ι-	-	÷.	39	74	÷			•	37
S	33	4	20	29	33	41	73	+	13	16	22	57	83	æ			18	55
ļ		<u>م</u>	10	30	39	57	82	+	13	21	37	70	89			-	33	69
Ū			30	14	20	34	68	89		•	16	50	80			•	13	48
Ш	31	5	20	40	44	52	80	i de la composición d	21	24	31	55	88			-	27	54
m .		0	20	22	20	46	76		- 21	14	96	60	96			12	43	70 60
ō	29		20	51	55	62	85	+	31	35	43	74	+		-	2	38	73
-			10	51	60	74	+	+	32	41	58	83	+	l .		20	54	82
			30	34	42	57	82	+	16	23	37	70	89			-	33	69
	27		20	62	65	71	89	+	43	47	54	81	+	-	12	16	50	80
	1.11.11.1		10	62	70	81	+	4	44	53	68	88	+		16	30	65	87
			30	47	55	68	88	+	27	35	50	79	+	-	=	13	48	77
	25		20	72	75	80	+	+	56	59	66	87	*	18	21	27	62	86
	Salar 1		10	12	19	0/	+	+	50	65	11	+	+	19	21	43	(4	+ 0E
	23		20	81	10	86			68	49	76	60 +		21	94	41	28	03 +
		j	10	81	85	+	+	+	68	75	84	+	• • •	31	40	57	82	+
			30	72	78	85	+	+	56	63	74	+	+	19	25	39	71	+
	21		20	87	89	+	+	+	78	80	84	÷	+	46	50	56	82	+
			10	88	÷	+	÷	+	78	83	+	+	+	46	55	70	89	+
			30	86	89	+	() + :,	+	76	81	87	+	+	43	50	63	86	+
	18		20		+	3 * 3	2 4 - 5	4	89	+	4 ().	+	:: + ::	69	72	76	+	+
	G ages		10	+	+	+	+	+	89	+	+	+	••• + /	70	76	85	+	+
			30	+	+	ा । जन	+	+	+	+	+	f	*	70	76	83	+	+
	15	3	20 10	+ +	+ +	*	+ +	*	1	τ +	т +	+	+	87	ბნ +	τ +	* +	+
			30		+	· · + · ·		+	i	+	+	, +		.89	+	+	+	
	12		20	+	4	+	1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.1.	4		+	+	84 B	+	+	4	+	erst 115. 1. † 1. €	4
			10	+	4 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	jas≩_iš	айлана +	8 <u>-</u> - 14	+	+	이 같은 것은 것을 물었다.	+		184 <u>1</u> 73	1. •	34 ^{- 1}	C	24 ³ 4

+ = GREATER THAN 90%

- = LESS THAN 10%